
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Community & Leisure 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council 
are summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Tuesday, 2 February 2021 at 7.30 pm 
when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how 
Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. Review of Gravesham Borough Council's Support to local voluntary and 
community organisations 

(Pages 9 - 16)

5. Community Engagement Strategy (Pages 17 - 30)

6. Draft Equalities Policy, Objectives and Action Plan (Pages 31 - 64)

7. Modern Slavery Progress Update (Pages 65 - 78)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Tourism & Heritage Strategy (Pages 79 - 
104)

9. Q3 Corporate Performance Report - Community & Leisure Portfolio - 
2020/2021 

(Pages 105 - 
116)

10.To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

11.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency. 

12.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any 
items included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the 
public are present during those items, there would be disclosure 
to them of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None at the time of publication

Members

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair)
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Harold Craske
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding
Emma Morley
Christina Rolles
Peter Scollard

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Thursday, 12 November 2020                                            7:30pm  

Present:

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox (Chair) 
Cllr Tony Rana (Vice-Chair) 

Cllrs: Helen Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
Harold Craske 
Aaron Elliott 
Jordan Meade 
Emma Morley   
Christina Rolles 
Peter Scollard 

Simon Hookway 
Anita Tysoe  
Kath Donald 
Sean Steer 
Nick May 
Tim Harris 
Kirsty Gaunt  

Assistant Director (Communities) 
Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services)   
Strategic Manager (Community Safety)
Operations Manager (Community Safety)
Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager 
Environmental Enforcement Manager 
Community Involvement Officer 

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

56. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gary Harding; Cllr Aaron Elliott substituted. 

57. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Wednesday, 03 June 2020 were signed by the Chair. 

58. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox and Cllr Peter Scollard declared interests as they were appointed 
representatives to the Gr@nd. 

59. Environmental Enforcement 

The Chair introduced the new Environmental Enforcement Manager Tim Harris to Members 
and asked him to give a brief introduction to the Committee. 

Following introductions the Committee received an oral presentation from the Environmental 
Enforcement Manager on the work of the Environment Enforcement Team, their 
achievements to date, where he hoped the team would be in twelve months, examples of 
prosecutions and the current challenges that Gravesham faced.  

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 12.11.2020

2

Following the presentation, the Environmental Enforcement Manager fielded questions from 
Members and explained that: 

 All businesses within Gravesham would have a duty of care in relation to getting rid 
of their trade waste safely; they had to have a trade waste agreement in place which 
would prevent their rubbish being placed in household waste bins. When the team 
received a report of a business dumping their rubbish in household bins, an officer 
would visit the business and deal with them under the fly-tipping legislation; the 
officer would also ensure a trade waste agreement was sought out for the offending 
business following disciplinary procedures 

 There was a revised reporting system in place; all reports from the public/Members 
needed to be reported through the contact centre or the online system on the 
website. The reason being that going through the proper reporting channels ensured 
that every single fly tipping case would be logged and evaluated for investigation as 
well as making the case load auditable and more manageable 

Members thanked the Environmental Enforcement Manager for his team’s work and noted 
his successes in successfully fining people who had fly-tipped within Gravesham. 

The Chair informed the Committee that the Assistant Director (Communities) and the 
Environmental Enforcement Manager would be scheduling a Member training session in the 
future on Environmental Enforcement and reporting instances of fly-tipping. 

The Chair thanked the Environmental Enforcement Manager for his comprehensive 
presentation.

60. Draft Community & Engagement Strategy 

The Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) presented the Committee with the 
draft Community Engagement Strategy. Officers had been working on the Strategy for a 
couple of months and the draft prepared took into account the aspirations of the Council and 
what the local Community were looking for with regards to engagement with the Council.  

The Community Involvement Officer advised that the Strategy complimented other 
Strategies within the Council and outlined the four core objectives that the framework set out 
for developing community engagement: 

 Being a Listening Council 
 Empowering Residents and Communities 
 Supporting Community Organisations 
 Building Cohesive Communities

Following questions from Members, the Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services 
explained that: 

 It was recognised that in order to ensure resilience, capacity building was required 
and training the volunteers in the Community was a key part of that. Throughout the 
pandemic, Community originations came together to network and seek advice on 
different experiences in order to help those in need within Gravesham. The Council 
felt that the networking between groups could be widened out across the Community 

Page 4



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 12.11.2020

3

even further with formal training opportunities that would be available to all 
Community organisations that were helping local residents 

 The team were keen to involve Member’s in order to better understand how the 
Strategy could be developed to suit individual wards requirements; Member’s will be 
consulted in the future to determine how the Strategy will engage with residents in 
their wards 

 The intention was to ensure that Communities off all sizes were engaged with not just 
the Communities that had previously engaged with the Council; the Strategy would 
make sure that opportunities were available for everyone. All local community groups 
will be worked with the aim of building  participation and raising awareness of the 
opportunities that the Council were offering 

Concern was raised by a Member over the wording on page 24 of the report concerning 
‘Review current links with BAME Community representatives and communities of interest 
and identify any gaps that need focus’ as he felt it could be construed as misleading 
residents. The Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) agreed to review the 
terminology within the report. 

Members noted the information contained within the report. 

61. Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 

The Strategic Manager (CSU) informed the Committee of a proposal put forward by 
Gravesham Borough Council for the de-merger of the joint Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and which has subsequently been agreed, in 
pursuance of Gravesham’s wish to establish a dedicated District–level CSP.

A delegated decision taken by the Cabinet Lead Member, Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, 
countersigned by the Leader of the Council, for the withdrawal of Gravesham from the joint 
CSP was taken and published in October in order that the new Partnership could be 
established without delay. The report had also previously been provided to the Council’s 
Cabinet on 9 November 2020 for information purposes.

The Strategic Manager (CSU) further went through the report explaining the background of 
the partnership and the new direction the Gravesham CSP would follow; many of the local 
partners were supportive of the proposal and the team determined that there were very few 
disadvantages compared to the host of advantages having a Gravesham CSP would create. 
Following the completion of the Strategic Assessment and a public consultation exercise, it 
was the intention that a new Gravesham Community Safety Strategy would be created and  
go live from 01 April 2021; the progress of the CSP would be monitored and reported 
through the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee as well as the Crime & Disorder 
Scrutiny Committee. 

The Chair thanked the Strategic Manager (CSU) for her work on the Partnership and 
reiterated the point that Gravesham partners were supportive of the approach that was being 
pursued. 

Following questions from Members, the Strategic Manager (CSU) explained that: 

 The new CSP would only concentrate on Gravesham; there were no plans now or in 
the future to create a joint CSP with Medway 

Page 5



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 12.11.2020

4

 Alongside Gravesham, the new CSP would consist of the statutory partners who had 
voting rights: Kent Police, Kent Fire & Rescue Service, the Probation 
Service/Community Rehabilitation Company, the NHS/CCG and KCC. Other groups 
would also be invited such as the Neighbourhood Watch, Victim Support and British 
Transport Police etc. however they would not have any voting rights. One advantage 
of the new CSP would be the ability for Gravesham to invite whomever they wanted 
to attend the CSP meetings who could contribute to what the CSP was trying to 
achieve. 

Members noted the information contained within the report.  

62. Youth Democracy Scheme 

The Committee were provided with an evaluation of the Local Councillor Shadowing Award 
2020. 

The Committee & Scrutiny Assistant guided Members through the report and explained the 
effectiveness of the Scheme in its current form; Members were informed that even though 
the Scheme was a success, due to Covd-19 it would not be run again in 2021; depending on 
the situation at the time, the Council would look to resume the Scheme in 2022.

Following questions, the Committee & Scrutiny Assistant explained that: 

 All of the main secondary schools within Gravesham were contacted well in advance 
about the Local Councillor Shadowing Award and they were all given the opportunity 
to have Jackie Simmonds give an assembly at the schools to inform the 6th form of 
the award and what it entailed 

 Unfortunately, prior to the Scheme it was deemed not possible for the Council to 
provide transport to and from meetings for all of the participants however the Council 
supported all of the participants and would provide as much support as necessary in 
future running’s of the Scheme 

 It would be very helpful if Councillors became more involved during the recruitment 
stages of the Scheme in 2022; the Councillors could visit the schools within their own 
wards to talk to the local 6th forms about the award and the benefits of completing it. 
Hopefully by hearing about it from Councillors it would drum up further interest for the 
Scheme and more participants would take part 

The Chair agreed that Ward Councillors should visit the local schools with Jackie Coupar the 
next time the Scheme was run and asked the Committee & Scrutiny Assistant to extend the 
period of advertisement and deadline for submissions so that it gave further time for young 
people to sign up to the Scheme in 2022.  

The Committee expressed their thanks to the Committee & Scrutiny Assistant for the 
commitment that he made to ensuring that this Scheme was a success.
 
Members noted the information contained within the report.  

63. Christmas Programme of Events 

Page 6



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 12.11.2020

5

The Committee were provided with an overview of the Christmas programme planned for 
Gravesend Town Centre for 2020 and the winter lights festival in January 2021, given Covid-
19 restrictions.

The Assistant Director (Communities) advised that the programme had been designed 
completely adhering to Government restrictions and all social distancing measures had been 
taken into consideration. Following the recent lockdown 2 the beginning of the programme 
had to be cancelled however if lockdown is lifted from 2 December, then the events planned 
in December 2020 would move ahead. The Christmas Lights Switch On Parade had to be 
cancelled however the Christmas Lights had been put up and the Mayor would release a 
video promoting the Christmas Light Switch On virtually. The Christmas Tree would be 
delivered next week and it would be fully decorated by the end of next week; the lights trail 
around the Town would form part of the Lights Festival in January 2021. The Market Days 
and Workshops prior to 2 December have been cancelled, but others are planned to go 
ahead. The drive in Cinema event is still planned to go ahead. 

The Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) further expanded on the Christmas 
Events Programme, the first ever Gravesham Lights Festival  and the current position with 
the Pantomime (pages 54-55) to Members. 

Cllr Craske gave his thanks to the company 8Point3 LED, who had assisted in the creation 
of the Lights Festival, as they were also the company that offered to repair the vandalised 
Clocktower lights which showed great community spirit. 

Cllr Aslam and Cllr Elliott also gave their thanks to the Assistant Director (Communities) and 
the Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) for the creation of a Christmas 
Programme and putting on a pantomime show for the children during a difficult period 

Following questions, the Assistant Director (Communities) and the Service Manager (Town 
Centre & Cultural Services) explained that: 

 The Drive In Cinema event would be held in Milton Place Car Park. 
 There was a connection between St Andrew’s Arts Centre and Charles Dickens; the 

building of St Andrew’s, by the daughter of Francis Beaufort, was helped with funding 
donated by Charles Dickens. It was not a very well-known link to Charles Dickens, 
but one to be recognised. 

 The pantomime would usually have a total capacity of 650 people but to ensure 
Covid compliancy that number had been reduced to a max of 240. The Service 
Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services) agreed to speak to Cllr Scollard outside 
of the meeting to determine if any special arrangements could be arranged for the 
large groups of children he usually brought every year 

 The local schools were liaised with as in previous years however many of them were 
unsure of taking a large amount of school children across Town to the theatre due to 
Covid-19 and social distancing issues. The prospect of taking the pantomime into the 
local schools was discussed but there were issues with that approach; the Council 
and pantomime producer had been looking to see if the run time of the pantomime 
could be extended into January to accommodate additional performances 

Members noted the information contained within the report. 

64. Corporate Performance Report: Q2  2020-21 

Page 7



Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee 12.11.2020

6

The Committee were provided with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Two 2020-21 
(July to September 2020).
 
The Assistant Director (Communities) guided Members through the report and gave a brief 
overview of each Policy Commitment. 

Following questions for each Policy Commitment, the Assistant Director (Communities) 
advised that: 

 The dotted line seen on the graphs within the report was the trend line which 
showed the overall trend against actual performance 

 Further discussions will be held on how to assist residents in using the open spaces 
safely and in a COVID-19 compliant way 

With regards to PI 2 – Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour, the Chair 
advised that he had requested that the Police separate the ASB cases which related to 
Covid-19 from other ASB cases as Covid-19 had caused the spike in reported figures. 

With regards to PI 13 – Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken, the Chair 
advised the zero reported in Q1 2020/21 was an anomaly as the Safer Place Officers had 
been reassigned to assist the vulnerable during the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. As 
seen in quarter two the Safer Place Officers had returned to their regular duties and the 
figures had risen. 

With regards to PI 37 – Total number of leisure centre attendees, the Chair assured the 
Committee that GCLL were receiving all of the necessary support they required from the 
Council. 

Members noted the information contained within the report.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 21:10pm. 

Page 8



Classification: Private
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 2 February 2021

Reporting officer: Service Manager (Town Centre & Cultural Services)
Community Involvement Officer

Subject:
Review of Gravesham Borough Council's Support to local 
voluntary and community organisations

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Members on the strategic review conducted in relation to the support being 
provided to voluntary and community organisations by the council.

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information; to appraise Members of the process undertaken and the 

organisations identified for support through formal service level agreements for the 
2021/22 financial year.

1 Introduction 

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council has provided financial support to a small 
number of local voluntary or community organisations who provide support 
and services to the community.

1.2 Times of crisis highlight the importance of local services and the way the 
community need to access them. During recent months the Covid-19 
pandemic has raised awareness of the level of support available and being 
delivered across Gravesham. This led to the Council recognising that the time 
was right to understand more about the range of services and financial 
support currently available, to ensure that the right services are receiving 
public funds.

2 Strategic Review 

2.1 During September and October a review was undertaken to better understand 
the organisations providing support across the Borough; to consider what 
support is required by the community and identify any gaps.

2.2 A range of information was used to assist with this work, including:
 Annual Service Level Agreements 
 The Council’s Register of Partnerships
 Allocation of the Covid-19 Emergency Grant Assistance Fund 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



2

 Directory of community services compiled by the Committee Section
 Feedback from Departments  
 Feedback from organisations about their services and emerging issues as 

a result of the pandemic.

2.3 Following review of the above, it was clear there are many organisations 
providing really important services and support for the community; many of 
which had taken steps during the pandemic to adapt their services to address 
changing and emerging needs.

2.4 It was also clear that the Council could not financially support all 
organisations and so consideration was given as to how best to ensure future 
funding was directed to those organisations who could support the widest 
members of the community and deliver fundamental services and support; but 
also how to more widely promote the range of additional funding opportunities 
available, such as the Community Involvement grant fund for educational or 
cohesive events or through external grant funding bodies. 

2.5 The review also found substantial evidence of growing demand for domestic 
abuse services, for access to food, increasing demand for volunteers and a 
need to support and build capacity across the community and voluntary 
sector, including providing support, training and capacity building to develop 
and sustain the sector, which included skills development around accessing 
external funding.

2.6 In considering objectives for providing support to local organisations, due  
regard was given to:

 The organisation being local to our residents
 Providing services that are open to all members of the community
 Delivering services that meet current needs and emerging issues 

identified through the pandemic
 Working in partnership with the Council to improve the health and 

wellbeing, in the broadest sense, for the community
 Helping the Council fulfil its obligations under the Equalities Act.

3 Findings

3.1 As a result of this review, a list was compiled of those organisations who it 
was felt the Council should support through a 12 month funded Service Level 
Agreement. Appendix II sets out details of those organisations, the support 
they will provide and the funding to be allocated for the next financial year

3.2 Service Level Agreements will not be automatically renewed each year, but 
rather a similar process to that set out above will be undertaken. This will 
ensure that the Council can consider any changes in need and demand, but 
will also ensure a process where all community organisations can be equally 
considered for support.

Page 10



3

4 Recommendations

4.1 As set out above, this report is to appraise Members of the process 
undertaken and the organisations identified for support through formal service 
level agreements for the 2021/22 financial year.

Page 11



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There are no legal implications

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The council has historically put in place annual budgetary provision to recognise the 
role community organisations have in providing support to the communities in 
Gravesham and delivering the council’s corporate plan objectives.  Budgetary 
provision of £123,650 was made in the approved General Fund Budget for the 
current financial year; £144,990 is being proposed for this purpose within the 2021-
22 General Fund Budget estimates. 
The council has made a commitment to direct income from fines arising from 
businesses breaching Covid-19 Government Guidance to supporting voluntary 
organisations.  Payments received in respect of any fines issued for this reason will 
therefore be directed for this purpose and used to offset budgetary provisions 
made.
A further £7,000 provision is included within the current year and is proposed within 
the Housing Revenue Account Budget Estimates.

Risk Assessment
There is a risk that if some of the local voluntary and community organisations are 
not supported, essential services will reduce.  At this time of such significant 
change during the pandemic and without knowing the full extent of the impact on 
the local community and economy, it is timely that the Council undertakes this 
review to ensure resilience in essential areas. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
       

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.  This report focuses on the delivery of services across all equality groups. 

Page 12

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Those organisations recommended for support all make a positive contribution 
to promoting equality. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The community organisations identified for support help the theme #Place helping 
build a connected community.

Climate Change There are no direct impacts

Crime and Disorder Community organisations support better community relationships and resiliance so 
has the potential to help reduce crime and disorder. 

Digital and website 
implications

No digital implications. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

All organisations supported will have safeguarding policies in place.

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix IV Recommendations

Organisation Services Funding recommended

Citizens Advice North & West Kent To provide an independent service to residents, assisting them to understand their rights
and responsibility, to provide free, confidential and impatiral advice including debt and
financial advice.

Grant £86,490,
(plus Housing contribution of
£7,000, Gateway office space
£11,000)

Borough Band To encourage local residents, especially young people, to learn, improve and
develop as musicians, and in turn for the band to be an asset to the local
community. To perform at 6 events throughout the year

£1,650.00

Gravesham Access Group Providing advice to the community regarding disbaility and access to services.  Advising
and supporting the Council on disability and accessibility issues  e.g. new developments,
consultations, promotion of new schemes the council may look to introduce.

£1,000.00

Kent Equality Cohesion Council Working towards the reduction of inequality, the elimination of discrimination and promoting
good relations between the diverse communities with a view to strengthen community
cohesion. Supporting and referring the community to appropriate services. Supporting the
Council in relation to policies & services; attendance at meetings and working groups;
identifying new communities and emerging issues.

£13,350.00

Steet Pastors Supporting the general public in the town centre during the evenings and weekends;
helping them stay safe, reducing anti-social behaviour and providing support such as
listening or caring until help arrives to those in need.

£5,000.00

North West Kent Volunteer Centre Delivering a volunteer service across Gravesham, supporting the community with a range
of needs from shopping to befriending calls. Building a strong cohort of volunteers
supported by specific training. Offering opportunities for those facing changing
circumstances e.g. joblessness to train as a new volunteer

£8,000.00

Choices Helping to eradicate domestic abuse in whatever form it takes by providing specialist
support that is accessible to anyone who needs it. Supporting, preventing, educating, and
creating awareness of domestic abuse, its cost, consequences and complexities.
Supporting those in need to escape abuse including support for temporary re-housing

£8,000.00

Council for Voluntary Services North & West
Kent

To provide support and help build resilience for local community and voluntary services,
including training and skills development. Networking and sharing of funding opportunities,
new schemes and opportunities. Consultation with local organisations, identifying new
issues and representing change for voluntary and community organisations with
appropriate bodies.

£12,000.00

Hive Hope Foodbank (working with the
Cripplegate Foundation and City Bridge Trust)

Providing essential and emergency food provisions to those in need £4,500.00

P
age 15



Appendix IV Recommendations

Gravesend Foodbank (Riverside; part of
Trussell Trust)

Providing essential and emergency food provisions to those in need £4,500.00

P
age 16



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee 

Date: 2 February 2021

Reporting officer: Service Manager, Town Centre & Cultural Services
Community Involvement Officer

Subject: A Community Engagement Strategy for Gravesham

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the updated  draft of the Community Engagement Strategy for Gravesham

Recommendations:
Committee Members are asked to:

 approve the draft strategy so that it may be formally adopted 

 provide continued support for the further development and implementation of the action plan

1. Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council has a history of community engagement in many 
forms from traditional questionnaire to diverse community events. This strategy is 
formally sets out our visions and objectives and approach to be taken over the 
next three years.

1.2 Following presentation of the draft strategy to the November Cabinet Committee 
for Community and Leisure,  amendments have been made to reflect comments 
and suggestions made by members.  

2. Recommendation

2.1 Members are asked to provide approval and support of the updated strategy so 
that it may be formally adopted

2.2 Members are also encouraged to support the Community Involvement Officer in 
the delivery and development of the action plan building on their local knowledge 
and experience.  

Page 17 Agenda Item 5



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There are no legal implications. This is the first draft of the community engagement 
strategy

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial requirements. 

Risk Assessment The Strategy aims to strengthen the position of Gravesham as a listening Council 
and broaden engagement opportunities.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No. This strategy should strengthen engagement from all members of the 
community

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes – the strategy aims to be inclusive and widen access to engagement 
across the Borough 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place – Develop a cohesive and resilient community

Crime and Disorder Effective engagement should support the ASB strategy and increase public 
awareness of the work being undertaken to reduce crime and disorder

Digital and website 
implications

None

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 18

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


1

‘A Listening Council’ 
A Community Engagement 

Strategy for Gravesham
2020-2023

Page 19



2

Introduction by Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox, 

Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure

The people who make up our communities are 
fundamental to making Gravesham such a 
fantastic place to live, work and enjoy.  

The council and this Administration is 
committed to being a listening council and in 
touch with its residents to ensure we deliver 
their priorities. To achieve this community 
engagement needs to be at the heart of what 

we do so that we can all work together to deliver effective services and 
build supportive and cohesive communities.

Our relationship with local residents and those who work and visit our 
Borough is crucial to all of us here at the council.  During these times of 
unprecedented uncertainty, change and challenges, it is more important 
than ever to build respect and trust between the council and the people 
of Gravesham.

This strategy and accompanying action plan will outline how the council 
will build on the existing strengths of our local communities, facilitate and 
support opportunities for all to have a voice, and help develop the skills 
of local communities and organisations that are essential in building the 
social capital that brings us all together. 

Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox 

Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure

Page 20



3

Background

For the purposes of this strategy we consider community engagement as a process that 
brings people together over a shared connection which could be a place, an interest, or an 
identity. 

There have been many drives over the years to empower residents to be more involved in 
the decisions that affect their lives and the services they receive, with varying degrees of 
success. Community engagement actively encourages participation and, as a lower tier local 
authority, Gravesham Borough Council is in a strong position to bring its local community 
and partners together to achieve this.

People are our greatest resource and, during these challenging and changing times, there 
have been tremendous examples of neighbourliness, public spirit and co-operation. By 
developing a community engagement strategy we have an opportunity to assess and learn 
from the past, whilst looking ahead to future challenges to strengthen our relationship with 
local people and help support our corporate objectives.  

This strategy is ambitious but realistic and to ensure it remains relevant, will be reviewed 
annually.

 

Our Vision

Our vision is that Gravesham Borough Council will be:

A listening and responsive Council 

that involves our community and makes a difference

Page 21



4

Strategic Objectives

This strategy sets out four core objectives as the framework for developing community 
engagement. These are:

Being a Listening Council

Empowering Residents and Communities

Supporting Community Organisations

Building Cohesive Communities

Being a Listening Council.  The Council is committed to being a listening council reaching 
out to all our communities. We will develop this priority through the following: 

 Establishing clear communication to the public on those opportunities where we need 
input from our communities to shape our priorities and services supporting the 
Council’s Communication Strategy

 The Council will act as a platform for collating information and issues for Gravesham 
residents and signpost to appropriate agencies

 Feeding back to the community on the information received from consultations, how 
that information has been used and the difference made.  Where action has not been 
taken this needs to be clearly communicated.  

 Providing support for Elected Members and officers in developing effective listening 
and engagement opportunities to help the council be more responsive to local needs 
and recognising the key bridging role they hold.

 Education, communication, information and advice will be central to the work of this 
strategy and action plan.

Empowering Residents and Communities.  Supporting and developing individuals and 
neighbourhoods with the tools and skills to take a more active role in their local area, leading 
to more empowered residents and communities.  The council will support this aim by:  

 Supporting volunteers and community leaders with relevant training and mentoring 
opportunities.

Page 22



5

 Encouraging collaborative working at a very local level supported by Ward Members, 
officers and relevant service providers to help build ownership, co-operation and 
pride in the local area

 Providing clear opportunities and processes for residents to influence local decision 
making

 Working in partnership with other authorities and agencies to deliver for local 
communities.

 Work closely and listen to thematic, interest and specialist groups and individuals to 
enhance the Borough’s Offer to residents, businesses and visitors especially in the 
arts, culture, tourism, heritage, sports and leisure sectors.

Supporting Community Organisations.  Community organisations play a central role in 
facilitating and developing community action and building strong social networks.  The 
council will provide support by:

 Establishing and supporting a network for local community organisations including a 
register of all community organisations in Gravesham.

 Align financial support for local community organisations to this strategy, formalising 
the Community Engagement and Events Grants Scheme and also run a Civic Events 
Protocol which will be administered by the Council

 Developing opportunities for community organisations, groups and clubs to engage 
with the council  

 Provide dedicated support to those groups and representatives from seldom heard 
communities and demographics including continued support for Gravesham Youth 
Council, the 50+ forum and Gravesham Access Group. 

 Help support community groups be sustainable via ongoing and external funding 
opportunities.

Building Cohesive Communities. Gravesham is a Borough that is recognised and 
celebrated for its diverse and cohesive communities. Community engagement is essential in 
working effectively with diverse communities, neighbourhoods and interest groups.  The 
council is committed to:

 Ensuring it has appropriate and inclusive opportunities to facilitate engagement and 
build trust with its ethnic minority communities and communities of interest.  This 
includes the LGBT+ community, Armed Forces, disability representatives and faith 
communities. 

Page 23



6

 Develop the council’s diverse community events programme

 Support educational and awareness raising activities to build better understanding 
and cohesiveness

Strategic Position and Key Policies

For the purposes of this strategy it is useful to set the strategic position of the Council and 
links with other key policies which will support delivery of this work. 

Corporate Plan:

The Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023 sets out the ambitions for the council and the actions being 
taken to achieve this,  working towards the overall vision to ‘deliver a Gravesham to be 
proud of’.  The plan was a result of working with and listening to communities to understand 
areas of the council work that were of greatest importance to the local community.  

There are three objectives – People, Place and Progress.  This community commitment sits 
under the Place objective with a specific commitment to ‘Develop a cohesive and resilient 
community’. 

As a Council, all work delivered links back to the Corporate Plan and can often cut across 
more than one objective. Whilst the strategy links directly to developing a cohesive and 
resilient community, it also supports many other objectives including creating stronger 
neighbourhoods, improving the local environment, improving resident well-being, and 
enhancing the borough’s cultural offer. 

Equalities Duty:

The Equalities Act 2010 legally protects people from discrimination in the workplace and 
wider society.  As a local authority, the council is required to prepare and publish one or 
more objectives to show how we will achieve the aims of the general equality duty.  The 
general equality duty requires public authorities, in the exercise of their functions, to have 
due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it.

This duty directly impacts and guides our community engagement activity to ensure that our 
actions assist and address inequalities.

As a council we have recently reviewed and revised our Equalities Objectives.  The 
Equalities Framework for Local Government was used to help identify the new objectives 
which dedicates one of its five themes to “involving your community” and emphasises the 

Page 24



7

importance of obtaining the views of a wide range of people who live and work in the area 
with focused efforts made to those who are marginalised and vulnerable.  The evolving 
action plan will link with and support this Community Engagement Strategy. 

Communication Strategy

 

Gravesham Borough Council is committed to delivering a Gravesham to be proud of for 
residents, businesses and visitors and building a strong and trusted brand. The effectiveness 
of how the vision is delivered will be determined to a significant extent by the quality of 
communications and engagement. Cabinet recently considered a corporate Communications 
Strategy which focusses on internal and external communication, as well as directly linking 
to this Community Engagement Strategy through ensuring appropriate engagement and 
involvement of audiences.

Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy 2019-2023:

The council’s Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy identifies Prevention and Community 
Involvement as the primary objective to help stop ASB from happening or escalating and is 
one of 4 overarching priorities.  

Within the action plan there are specific actions where community engagement has a 
leading role in supporting delivery of the objective:

 Reducing acts of ASB directed against the person

A Creative Gravesham 2020-2025:

Our Arts & Cultural Strategy outlines the council’s commitments to build on the strong legacy 
of community events and support creativity and cultural cohesion within the borough. 

Community engagement has a significant role in supporting the priority of growing a cultural 
and creative community and establishing a vibrant and aspirational arts and cultural events 
programme.  In particular:

 Developing a cultural environment that is no longer solely confined by access to 
buildings and venues.  

 Creating a volunteer network to support cultural events and the heritage sector
 Ensuring that the diversity that defines the borough is reflected in all our activities

Page 25



8

Methods of Engagement

The Council uses a range of engagement methods from traditional questionnaire to events 
and activities. Our aim is to use the most appropriate method of engagement that is fit for 
purpose and will develop further in the associated action plan. 

This means that we will:

 Use the most appropriate method of engagement, taking into account the purpose of 
the engagement, the required reach and nature of involvement and complexity of 
information being provided 

 Make sure the methods we use are accessible to everyone who wants to take part

 Identify preferred methods of communication for different activities and groups

 Guide colleagues and partners as to the best methods of engagement and what has 
worked well with different communities so that we can use methods we know are 
effective

 Evaluate methods and make changes in response to feedback 

 Regular reports will take place on the progress of the Strategy and Action Plan to the 
Cabinet Member for Community and Leisure and via the Community and Leisure 
Cabinet Committee 

SWOT Analysis

The following analysis sets out the current strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats 
in achieving our vision and delivering against this strategy. This analysis will be part of the 
review of the overall strategy and attention will be paid to how best to address some of the 
weaknesses as part of our efforts to continually develop and improve engagement as a 
whole.

Page 26



9

Strengths Weaknesses
A diverse community who are keen to 
engage

Up to date engagement databases of 
community organisations, local 
groups, residents and businesses

Officers and Members who recognise 
and value the importance of true 
community engagement

Gaps in community leader 
representation from some groups

Local community organisations who 
support active engagement and are 
able to advise on changing 
community needs and issues

Little capacity or lack of skills 
amongst some groups to fully engage 
in opportunities with the Council, e.g. 
leading specific activities and events

Local community groups keen to 
support a diverse programme of 
events and activities that raise 
awareness and support education 
and cohesion

 

Active parish councils in the rural 
areas of the borough (19% of the 
Gravesham population)

Opportunities Threats
Ability to grow a network of contacts 
for engagement, from community 
organisations to local residents

Unrealistic expectation of 
engagement opportunities or 
outcomes

Develop representation from under-
represented and seldom heard 
groups

Funding challenges to support local 
delivery of activities

Increase feedback about what the 
Council has done in response to 
engagement

Limited officer resource unable to 
meet wider demand for engagement 
activities

Action Plan

To support the development of this strategy, an action plan has been drafted to set out some 
of the initial work streams that will be taken forward. The action plan will be kept under 
review and streams of work will be developed on an ongoing basis to ensure delivery of the 
overall objectives and to meet changing demands and priorities for the Council and 
community.  

Page 27



10

Action Plan

Action Expected outcomes
Being a Listening Council
1 Develop and publish a programme of public 

consultations, including statutory responsibilities
Public, staff and elected 
members are all informed and 
able to plan ahead leading to 
improved responses

2 Develop and publish a protocol for how the council 
collates, responds and uses community feedback and 
information

Improved accountability of the 
council to help build trust

3 Promote how to contact the council and your local 
councillor

Improved awareness and 
contacts with the council and 
Elected Members

4 Build on and support links with the six Parish Councils 
in the borough recognising the crucial engagement 
role they play for their communities ensuring they are 
an integral part of the council’s community 
engagement strategy

Rural residents and parish 
councillors are supported by the 
borough council and able to 
share examples of good practice  

5 Align the strategy to complement and support the 
Council’s Communication Strategy 

Consistency in messaging and 
ensuring communication and 
education are at the core of the 
strategy

Empowering Residents and Communities
6 Implementing and developing the Street Champion 

Scheme network of litter picking volunteers.
Local residents take a more 
active role in their area

7 Using the Community Cohesion Atlas for Gravesham  
and Community Safety intelligence identify a priority 
street/ neighbourhood for targeted action 

Increase in pride and ownership 
of the local area

8 Developing tools and processes for the public to 
engage with the council building on recent successes 
of using virtual tools during the pandemic but also 
recognising the digital divide 

Increased engagement with a 
broader representation of the 
community

9 Developing links and mechanisms with local services, 
organisations and agencies to support and address 
local issues

Increased awareness of and 
influence in local services. 

Supporting Community Organisations
10 Develop an On-line community organisation and 

representative database. When seeking consent to be 
part of the database, information will be collected that 
will include preferred method of engagement and 
areas of expertise.

Increased contacts with 
community organisations.  Staff 
more confident to make 
appropriate referrals

11 Develop Community Organisation Network to share 
information, opportunities and issues.  

More supported and empowered 
community organisations

12 Identify and develop support for the sector to include 
funding opportunities, training, collaborative working 

Increase capacity and viability of 
the sector

Building Cohesive Communities
13 Review current links with BAME Community 

representatives and communities of interest and 
identify any gaps that need focus 

Improved contacts with 
Gravesham’s excluded 
communities 

14 Develop the council’s calendar of diverse community 
events providing support to community leaders and 
linking with relevant community organisations. 

Improved sense of pride and 
belonging in Gravesham, 
improved understanding and 
tolerance

Page 28



11

Glossary of Terms

Term or phrase Description

BAME The acronym stands for Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic and is used in the UK to describe non-white 
people.  

Collaboration The process of two or more people or organisations 
working together to achieve a common goal or 
complete a task

Communities of Interest A group of people who have shared identity, 
experiences, characteristics or common interests.  
For example Afro-Caribbean community, Armed 
Forces, homeless community. 

Community Cohesion A community where people feel that they belong and 
are comfortable mixing with people from different 
backgrounds.  The process of developing trust and 
building a shared understanding and common 
values

Community Empowerment The process of enabling communities to increase 
control over the factors and decisions that shape 
their lives. 

Community Engagement The process of working collaboratively as a 
community with a shared interest such as where 
they live, to address issues affecting the wellbeing of 
these people. 

Diversity Acknowledging and recognising the differences 
between people and groups of people and placing a 
positive value on those differences. It applies to 
everyone

Seldom heard Ensuring attempts to engage are inclusive and that 
effort and focus is prioritised to build relationships 
with groups outside of the “usual suspects”, 
developing the skills to effectively involve and listen. 

Social Capital The value placed on the network of relationships 
among people or groups that help society to 
function.  

Page 29



12

Under represented groups Those groups who are under represented in 
consultations, as service users etc. according to the 
local community profile. 

Page 30



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 02 February 2021

Reporting officer: Community Involvement Officer

Subject: Gravesham Borough Council Equality Policy and Objectives

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the new Gravesham Borough Council Equality Policy and Objectives for 2021-24 
including action plan 

Recommendations:
1. Note the content of the report
2. Provide comments on the draft Equalities Policy and Objectives, enabling the Cabinet 

Member for Community & Leisure to recommended adoption at Full Council on 23 
February 2021 

1. Introduction

1.1 The Equalities Act 2010 legally protects people from discrimination in the 
workplace and wider society.  As a local authority, the council is required to 
prepare and publish one or more objectives to show how we will achieve 
the aims of the general equality duty.

1.2 The current equalities objectives expired in 2020 and as part of the 
development of the council’s new equalities objectives officers were 
requested to review the Equality Policy.  This has now been revised and 
combined with the equalities objectives and action plan.  

2. Gravesham BC Equality Policy and Objectives and action plan 2021-24 

2.1 Following a review of the council’s 2016-20 Equalities Statements and 
Objectives, new objectives were drafted and submitted to management 
team back in September 2020.

2.2 Since this date an Equalities Officer Group has been established and has 
assisted with the development of a detailed action plan and a new 
Equalities Policy to help the council deliver its equalities ambitions and 
meet is legal duties under the Equalities Act.

Page 31 Agenda Item 6



2

2.3 The work has been guided by the Equality Framework for Local 
Government 2020, examples of good practice by council’s from across the 
country and discussion with the Kent Equalities Cohesion Council.  

3. Recommendations

3.1 Members of the committee are asked to comment on the new policy, 
objectives and action plan enabling the Cabinet Member for Community & 
Leisure to recommended adoption at Full Council on 23 February 2021  

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS/ APPENDICES

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Appendix II Gravesham Borough Council Equality Policy, Objectives and Action Plan 2021-
24

Page 32



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council has a legal duty to prepare and publish one or more equality objectives 
to achive the aims of the Equality Duty

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial implications in relation to this report

Risk Assessment A failure to meet the duty to ensure compliance could lead to the council being 
reported to the Equalities and Human Rights Commission, damage to the 
reputation of the council and the potential to impact on community tensions. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes the purpose of the Equality Objectives is to enable the council to fulful its 
legal obligations under the Equality Duty to tackle discrimination and promote 
equality 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan This policy and  objectives form part of the councils "golden thread".  Actions 
support putting the customer first, developing a supportive and resilient community 
and an employer of choice 

Climate Change There are no direct impacts

Crime and Disorder Promotion of equalities supports better relationships and therefore has potential to 
reduce crime and disorder e.g. hate crime 

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital implications.  The equality objectives will be loaded onto the 
GBC website. 

Page 33

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Promoting equalities positively assists

Page 34



1

Appendix II

Gravesham Borough Council

Equality Policy 

1. Introduction

Gravesham Borough Council recognises and values the diversity of its communities,   
workforce and Members. 

This policy outlines our commitment to developing opportunities for inclusion and 
cohesion so that everyone feels they can contribute and participate in the social, 
cultural and economic life of the Borough. 

Under the Equality Act 2010 public authorities have legal duties to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and people who do not share it. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it.

The act sets out a list of protected characteristics:  

 age
 disability
 gender reassignment
 marriage and civil partnership
 pregnancy and maternity
 race
 religion or belief
 sex
 sexual orientation.  

2. Equality Policy Aims and Vision

The council acknowledges and welcomes its legal duties and is proud to commit its 
ambitions to not only exceed its statutory duties but to deliver positive outcomes 
across it services. 

This policy provides a clear commitment to achieving equality of opportunity in all of 
our activities including in the delivery of services to the community, as an employer 
and as a community leader.  

We understand equality to be about fair and equal treatment for all but that this may 
require responding to individuals or groups differently to meet their needs or address 
differing levels of disadvantage and discrimination.  

Page 35



2

3. Council Equality Objectives and commitments

Under the Public Sector Equality Duty, the council is required to publish information 
each year to demonstrate compliance with the duty and to set at least one equality 
objective every four years. 

The council’s equality objectives have been revised and form an integral part of the 
new equality policy.  These are not limited and can be revised and expanded to take 
account of emerging needs and local priorities. 

The objectives for 2020-24 are:

 Understanding our communities and workforce and how people could be 
disadvantaged or discriminated against because of a protected characteristic

 Building a cohesive and inclusive borough as a service provider, employer 
and community leader

The Council will:

 Collect and publish information annually in the Community Data Profile which 
will enable Members, officers and services to be better informed about the 
make up of the communities they serve

 Develop council systems to capture reliable equality data which will inform 
decision making, ensuring a clear understanding of service users or, of 
services which are not being fully accessed by some groups of the 
community, thereby enabling further work to understand these gaps

 Deliver effective engagement to obtain the views of a wide cross-section of 
people who live and work in the Borough; ensuring two way dialogue and 
active involvement in matters that are important or affect the wider community

 Encourage participation in local democracy from under-represented groups to 
ensure all voices are heard and there is a clear understanding of the needs 
and views of the whole community

 Appoint a Member Champion to support Political and Executive commitment 
to reducing inequality, ensuring Equalities is at the heart of services and 
decisions.

 Set and publish annual equalities objectives for the Council, meeting our duty 
under the Equality Act and ensuring ongoing commitment and focus of our 
responsibilities 

Page 36



3

 Support a robust Equality Impact Assessment for all key decisions and 
service planning; ensuring due regard has been given to any potential impacts 
arising as a result of those decisions

 Produce an annual report assessing and evidencing the delivery of equality 
objectives across the council; ensuring transparency, learning and 
improvement in line with our commitment

 Integrate equalities objectives into service planning; ensuring equalities is 
embedded in service delivery at all levels

 Monitor service delivery to ensure all services are accessible and inclusive; 
identifying barriers and taking steps to address them

 Engaging our service users to identify improvements and ensure services 
meet the needs of all residents

 Encourage diversity within Elected  Members and our workforce, 
representative of the local community and to collate and publish workforce 
data

 Ensure our workforce strategies encourage a supportive and inclusive 
working environment and present a range of accessible learning and 
development opportunities to support councillors and officers in achieving 
equality objectives and outcomes

 Build a positive health and wellbeing culture throughout the Council

The Equalities Objectives Action Plan within this policy, sets out how we will deliver 
and achieve these objectives. This work his has been developed to support the 
Equality Framework for Local Government which helps councils to plan, implement 
and deliver real equality outcomes for employees and the community.    

4. Monitoring and review

This council has implemented a “Golden Thread” to help deliver on its ambitions for 
the Borough.  This is a continuous cycle connecting the corporate aims, policy 
framework and delivery plans of the council, with the actions of Members, officers 
and partners at all levels.  This Equalities Policy is an integral part of this cycle. 

Page 37



4

Progress of work to deliver against the action plan will be regularly reviewed through 
an officer working group and reported annually to the Council’s Management Team 
Committee and Cabinet.  

Page 38



5

Equalities Statement and Objectives 2020-24

Overarching objectives

Objective 1 – Understanding our communities and workforce and how people could be disadvantaged or discriminated against because of a 
protected characteristic

Objective 2 – Building a cohesive and inclusive borough as a service provider, employer and community leader

Action Plan:  developed from the Equality Framework for Local Government (EFLG)

Action Why are we doing it Lead Officer Deadline EFLG 
2020

1 Collect and publish relevant, proportionate and 
appropriate information in the Community Data 
Profile.  

Provide information about 
communities needs to help identify 
priorities for the local area

Corporate 
Performance 
Manager

Apr 2021 1

2 Review the information council systems 
capture in relation to users to enable better 
understanding of who is / is not accessing 
service 

Identify gaps in service access and understand 
the reasons for this; with a specific view on 
whether underrepresentation is as a result of a 
policy/service condition creating barriers.

To ensure the council provides 
services fairly across all community 
groups.

Due consideration needs to be 
given to GDPR and ensure that only 
appropriate information is collected

Town Centre and 
Cultural Services 
Manager to 
develop with input 
from WMT

Jun 2021 2

3 Effective engagement to ensure the views of a 
wide cross-section of people who live and work 
in the area are obtained.

To align work with the Community 
Engagement Strategy 

To build positive community 
relations by enabling and supporting 
the community to influence local 
decisions.  
Align with the Community 
Engagement Action Plan 

Community 
Involvement Officer

Ongoing 3

4 Support participation from under-represented 
groups in public life developing appropriate 
systems where gaps exist 

To build positive community 
relations, making effective, 
supported decisions.  

Community 
Involvement Officer

Ongoing 6

P
age 39



6

Align with the Community 
Engagement Action Plan

Leadership and Organisational Commitment
5 Political and Executive leadership are 

committed to reducing inequality:
- appointment of a Member Champion; 
- amendment to Article 13 of Constitution to 
reflect a commitment within executive decision 
making.

To ensure a strong vison and 
commitment to equality. 

To ensure Member involvement is at 
the heart of the Equalities agenda

Management Team  
/ Cabinet

May 
2021

7

6 Set and publish equality objectives for the 
council to be reviewed annually 

To meet out duty under the 
Equalities Act

To build positive community 
relations by enabling the council to 
evidence it has made a positive 
difference to the community

Community 
Involvement Officer

Apr 2021 10

7 Ensure a robust Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA) process is undertaken to ensure all 
executive decisions are accompanied by an 
EIA.

To ensure EIAs are integrated into 
planning and decision making. 
To enable the Council to 
demonstrate that equality outcomes 
are being delivered as a result of 
effective equality analysis and 
impact assessments

Management Team 
and Wider 
Management Team 

June 
2021

9

8 To present an annual report to Management 
and Committee for performance monitoring 
and scrutiny purposes 

To review, evidence and challenge 
progress and delivery of equality 
objectives

Community 
Involvement Officer

Apr 2022 11

Responsive Services and Customer Care

9 To ensure equality objectives are integrated 
into:

The council can demonstrate that 
improvements and equality 

Management Team 
and WMT 

2021/22 13

P
age 40



7

- service business plans; 
- corporate project framework; and
- corporate partnership framework 

outcomes are being considered and 
delivered across the organisation.

10 Work with managers to develop and use 
systems to:
-  sort data by equality groups
-  consult service users about service delivery 
to identify who is not accessing services
-  categorise any complaints relating to 
discrimination

To increase satisfaction with 
services amongst all users including 
those with protected characteristics

WMT Initial 
milestone 
of June 
2021.  
Align to 
Action 2

14

Diverse and Engaged Workforce

11 Collate and analyse workforce data to 
understand the workforce profile, including 
Members and reflectiveness of the local 
community and labour market.  

To enable the Council to have a 
clear understanding of the make-up 
of the workforce and Elected 
Councillors and can demonstrate 
movement to greater diversity 

Management 
Team, Human 
Resources & 
Committee 
Services

Initial 
milestone 
of June 
2021

15 & 
17

12 To ensure Strategies and Policies are inclusive 
and identify equality issues, such as training 
for all staff and Members

To ensure Policies and strategies 
make a proven difference to the 
equality agenda for staff and 
Members

Human Resources Sep 2021 16

13 The council assesses what equality related 
training is required, provides a range of 
accessible learning and development 
opportunities that support Councillors and 
officers in achieving equality objectives and 
outcomes. Link to the IiP action plan

Services are provided by 
knowledgeable and well-trained 
staff.  

Human Resources Sep 2021 18

14 To work to build a positive health and 
wellbeing culture throughout the council  

High satisfaction outcomes levels 
with the working environment across 

Human Resources May 
2021

19  

P
age 41



8

- Inclusive mechanisms in place to 
engage and involve all staff and 
Members

- support for mental health issues in the 
workplace

all staff groups included those with 
protected characteristics

15 Support the Investors in People work plan 
ensuring that equalities is embedded 
throughout the IiP Action Plan.  

High satisfaction levels from all staff 
including those with protected 
characteristics

Human Resources 
and the IiP officer 
working group

Apr 2021

P
age 42



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Equality Framework for Local Government (EFLG) 

                                   2020 Version 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
1

P
age 43



Introduction 

The Equality Framework has been updated to reflect the latest legislation affecting equality such as Gender Pay Gap reporting, GDPR,  the 

changing context of the local government sector and equality in Britain and in response to other significant issues that might affect equality 

including the UK’s decision to leave the European Union.  

The equality framework is intended to help Councils: 

• deliver accessible and responsive services to customers and residents in their communities including those from protected 

characteristics 

• employ a workforce that reflects the diversity of the area they are serving 

• provide equality of opportunity for all staff  

• Meet the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty 

It seeks to do this by:  

• Identifying the areas of activity that Councils need to be address to deliver good equality outcomes 

• Helping Councils to understand how they can build equality into processes and practices 

• supporting organisations to become inclusive employers 

• Enabling Councils to informally self-assess their progress on the equality improvement journey and determine where and how they need 

to improve. 

• Providing the framework for an LGA Equality peer challenge  

Underlying Principles 

• The EFLG is part of the LGA’s sector led improvement offer to the local government sector and as such engagement with the 

Framework is voluntary.   

• The Framework can help with compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty which is a legal obligation of the Equality Act 2010.  

• The Framework references the nine legally protected characteristics: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil 

partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. It also encourages Councils to consider other 

issues that might be affecting their staff such as caring responsibilities as well issues affecting communities such as socio-economic 

inequality and isolation including rural isolation 

• The EFLG is supportive of the EHRC’s six selected domains of equality measurement which it has identified as the areas of life that are 

important to people and that enable them to flourish. They are: Education, Work, Living standards, Health, Justice and personal 

security, and Participation  

• The modular design of the Framework reflects the fact that Councils come in all shapes and sizes with different resources, communities 

and priorities. It recognises that action on all equality issues at once is not always possible.  

• The Framework supports the LGA’s Equality Peer Challenge 

 

The Framework sets out four modules for improvement underpinned by a range of criteria and practical guidance that can help a Council plan, 

implement and deliver real equality outcomes for employees and the community. The four modules are: 

P
age 44



• Understanding and working with your communities 

• Leadership and Organisational Commitment 

• Responsive Services and Customer Care 

• Diverse and Engaged Workforce  

For each module there are three Levels. Developing; Achieving and Excellent. The levels are progressive and cumulative so an organisation 

can plan and chart its progression against different priorities. Councils can be at different levels of the framework for different modules.  

Developing - The developing level criteria contain the basic building blocks for each priority. An organisation at the Developing level has made 

an organisational commitment to improving equality. It is putting in place processes to deliver on equality issues and is working towards 

meeting and exceeding the statutory requirements. 

Achieving - An organisation at the Achieving level has policies, processes and procedures in place and is delivering some good equality 

outcomes. It is not only meeting, but can demonstrate exceeding statutory requirements. 

Excellent - An organisation at the Excellent level has mainstreamed equality throughout the organisation and can demonstrate that it is 

delivering significant outcomes across its services that are making a difference in its communities. The organisation not only exceeds statutory 

requirements and it is an exemplar council for equality and diversity in the local government and wider public sector.  

The modules contain a number of themes, each with short descriptor at each level of the framework. This is followed by a set of indicators or 

criteria that can be used to self-assess.  

Understanding and Working with your Communities Leadership and Organisational Commitment 
 

Collecting and sharing information Leadership 

Analysing and using data and information Priorities and working in partnership 

Effective community engagement Assessing equality impact in policy and decision taking 

Fostering good community relations Equality objectives and annual reporting 

Participation in public life Performance monitoring and scrutiny 

  

Responsive Services and Customer Care Diverse and Engaged Workforce  

Commissioning and procuring services Workforce diversity 

Integration of equality objectives into service planning Inclusive strategies and policies  

Service delivery Collecting, analysing and publishing workforce data 

 Learning and development 

 Health and wellbeing 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 45



Understanding and Working with your Communities  
Developing Achieving Excellent 

 

Collecting and Sharing Information 
1.1 
The organisation has gathered and published 
information and data on the profile of its 
communities and the extent of inequality and 
disadvantage. Plans are in place to collect, 
share and use equality information with 
partners. 

1.2 
Relevant, proportionate and appropriate 
information about the local communities and 
their protected characteristics is being 
gathered. Information is shared across the 
organisation and with partners 

1.3 
A comprehensive set of information about 
local communities/protected characteristics 
needs and outcomes is regularly updated 
and published and used to identify priorities 
for the local area 

Criteria 

The organisation is clear about what sources 
of information (both local and national) are 
relevant and useful.  
 
The organisation knows what information is 
already being collected – internally and by its 
partners, including voluntary and community 
sector stakeholders? 
 
Some information and data has been 
gathered and published. 
 
The organisation is working with its partners 
to ensure information is shared effectively. 
 
 Partners ensure efficient collection of data 
that avoids duplication. 
 
The authority is compliant with GDPR 
legislation in its collection, analysis storage 
and use of data and information 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Information is disaggregated and analysed 
on the basis of different communities, 
including those sharing protected 
characteristics.  
 
Quantitative and qualitative research 
methods are used to gather data and 
information 
 
National and regional data is used and 
analysed.  
 
Information from ward councillors is gathered 
in a systematic way. 
 
Data is easily accessed, shared and used by 
departments across the organisation. 
 
The organisation is working with partners to 
address identified gaps in information. Data 
is disaggregated using the same or similar 
categories. 
 
Information is being shared to identify and 
measure equality gaps and to inform 
outcomes for the area.   
 
There are robust and effective protocols in 
place for sharing information between 
partners and to ensure data protection 
 

The Council is working with partners to 
continuously develop new and innovative 
data sharing platforms. 
 
The organisation has a sophisticated 
understanding of the difference between the 
equality profile of their local area and how 
that translates to inequalities for different 
groups. 
 
Changing needs are identified and prioritised 
across a wide range of services and 
outcomes by, for example, referring to the 
Equality and Human Rights Commission’s 
Equality Measurement Framework 
 
Data is regularly updated and used to set 
priorities across the organisation and in 
different services, by geographical area and 
by protected characteristic. 
 
There is evidence of a continuous 
improvement of the quality of the data. 
 
The organisation is working with partners to 
ensure that changing needs are identified 
and met. 
  
Voluntary and community sector 
partners/health colleagues and stakeholders 
access and use the information. 

P
age 46



Information is being captured about health 
inequality. 
 

 
 
 

Analysing and using data and information 

2.1 
Systems are being developed to analyse soft 
and hard data/intelligence about 
communities, their needs and aspirations. 

2.2 
Information and data is disaggregated and 
analysed to support the assessment of local 
need, impacts of changes to services and 
priorities. 
 

2.3 
Up to date and comprehensive equality data 
is used regularly to plan and assess impacts 
of decisions.  
 
 

Criteria 

The organisation is developing and improving 
systems for collating and analysing the 
different sets of data being collected. 
 
Information is collected by front-line staff or 
key decision makers and taken account of. 
 
The authority is compliant with GDPR 
legislation, analysis and use of data and 
information 
 
 

Data is used to inform the setting of relevant 
equality objectives, and these are regularly 
monitored.  
 
Data is used in service planning, 
commissioning and decision making. 
 
Data is continuously gathered and analysed.  
 
Information is disaggregated in a meaningful 
way, by relevant protected characteristic and 
other factors (such as deprivation or rurality) 
and analysed on a regular basis. Information 
is used to identify and prioritise on the basis 
of need. 
 
Information and data is used effectively as 
part of impact assessment/ risk assessment 
and giving due regard to the public sector 
equality duty. 
 
 
 
 
 

The organisation and its partners are using 
data in the most innovative ways such as 
predictive analytics to target service 
interventions 
 
Data is being used to predict and measure 
demand for services 
 
Achievement of outcomes are measured and 
there is evidence of gaps being narrowed.  
 
Performance is monitored against equality 
objectives and outcomes including procured 
and commissioned services, and with key 
partners and other stakeholders. 
  
Equality outcomes for commissioned and 
procured services are monitored and 
reported on. 

 

 

P
age 47



 

 

 

 

Effective Community Engagement 
Developing Achieving Excellent 

3.1 
Inclusive community engagement structures 
are being developed throughout the 
organisation. 
There are opportunities for communities to 
be involved in decision making. 

3.2 
Engagement mechanisms and structures 
are in place to involve equality stakeholders 
and scrutinise service delivery, decision-
making and progress. The organisation 
engages with all its communities when 
making decisions, including those with 
protected characteristics 

3.3 
Formal and informal interactions takes place 
between the organisation and its diverse 
communities. Communities from across the 
protected groups are actively participating in 
and influencing decision making. 

Criteria   

The organisation has an engagement 
strategy. It is clear about different levels of 
engagement (i.e. informing, consulting, 
participating, co-producing) and when these 
are appropriate. 
 
Engagement structures are in place  
 
There are opportunities for protected groups 
to be engaged with decision making.’ 
 
The organisation can evidence examples of 
these opportunities. 
 
Shared engagement structures/mechanisms 
are in development with partners. 
 
There are some shared engagement 
activities with partners. 

People from protected groups are 
encouraged and enabled to participate in 
decision making. 
 
A range of engagement methodologies are 
used.  
 
Priorities have been changed as a result of 
engagement with a clear and demonstrable 
evidence basis. 
 
The organisation and partners engage 
collectively/share information and results of 
engagement activities to ensure that 
particular groups are not being over 
consulted with.  
 
There is an increase in the involvement of 
underrepresented groups. 
 
Engagement with the community and 
voluntary sector and the wider community 
effectively inform decisions. 
 
There are processes and plans throughout 
the organisation and with partners to 

There are a range of innovative approaches to 
involving communities and arrangements are 
made to meet specific or individual needs.  
 
Vulnerable people/ communities are 
participating including the hardest to reach in 
the community. 
 
There is evidence that mainstream 
engagement mechanisms are increasingly 
involving previously under-represented groups. 
 
Communities are encouraged or supported to 
influence or make decisions.  
 
Staff and stakeholders are able to describe 
levels of influence within the community and 
changes made as a result. 
 
Key decision makers are involved in the 
engagement process. 
 
There is evidence of partnership arrangements 
leading to improved outcomes in participation. 
 

P
age 48



increase stakeholder and voluntary and 
community sector involvement in informing 
priorities.  
 
Feedback is given and people in the 
community are able to challenge and have 
their views taken account of. 

Partners are open to challenge and 
constructive criticism. 
 
Where there is very limited or no actual 
representation within a local demographic, the 
ability to cater for difference is in evidence. 

 

 

 

 

Fostering good community relations 
4.1  
Structures are in place within the 
organisation and across partnerships to 
understand community relationships and 
map community tensions. 

4.2 
The organisation and its partners have a 
strong understanding of the quality of 
relations between different communities and 
collectively monitor relations and tensions. 
The organisation and its partners are actively 
engaged in planning and delivering activities 
that foster good relations. 

4.3 
The organisation takes a sophisticated 
approach to fostering good relations which 
has resulted in measurable improvements in 
relationships between diverse communities 

Criteria 

There are joint partnerships responsible for 
monitoring community tensions. 
 
The Community Safety Strategy addresses 
the issue of community cohesiveness 
 
Council leaflets/ posters/ communications/ 
events promote positive relations. 

Harassment and hate crimes are monitored 
and analysed regularly 
 
Appropriate action is taken to address the 
issues that have been identified. 
 
Members play a role in monitoring community 
relations and reporting intelligence 
 
Data is available, and is it disaggregated to 
cover the protected characteristics. 
 
Data is regularly analysed and acted upon.  
 
Stakeholders and communities are involved 
in the monitoring. 

Information is available to show there has 
been an improvement in community 
relations. 
 
The organisation works with others to 
improve performance on good relations 
between diverse communities. 
 
The Council’s leaders maintain a high profile 
on community relations. The Council makes 
use of Members’ links with different 
communities depending on circumstances. 
 
The Council plays a leading role in bringing 
the partners and the community together if 
there are serious incidents of hate crime. 
 
There is obvious and demonstrable cross 
over between equality, diversity and 
community cohesion 

P
age 49



 

 

 

 

 

Participation in public life 

6.1 
The organisation has a clear understanding 
of the level of participation in public life by 
different communities/protected 
characteristics. This can include involvement 
in local democracy and representation e.g. 
school governors, councillors, board 
members of voluntary/statutory sector 
organisations.  

6.2 
Local people are encouraged to participate in 
public life or in other activities where they are 
under-represented. The Council uses a range 
of different methods and it is able to innovate 
and find new ways to extend participation in 
certain communities. 

6.3 
There is an improvement in the participation 
rates of under-represented groups in public 
life. The organisation can demonstrate that 
people across a range of protected 
characteristics are able to influence decisions 

Criteria 

Information/data is gathered about the extent 
of involvement in public life 

The organisation actively informs and 
involves local people, including under- 
represented groups, in opportunities for 
public participation.  
 
Outreach work or public campaigning has 
been undertaken to increase levels of 
participation by protected groups. 

There is evidence that improvements have 
been achieved.  
 
More people from under-represented groups 
are participating across a wider range of 
activities. 
 
Decision makers are from a wider range of 
backgrounds. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 50



 

 

Leadership and Organisational Commitment 
Developing Achieving Excellent 

Leadership 

7.1 
The political and executive leadership have 
publically committed to reducing inequality, 
fostering good relations and challenging 
discrimination.  

7.2 
Political and executive leaders demonstrate 
personal knowledge and understanding of 
local communities and continue to show 
commitment to reducing inequality. 
 

7.3 
Leaders have gained a reputation within the 
community and with all of its partners for 
championing equality, balancing competing 
interests and fostering good relations. 
 

Criteria   

Senior leaders in the organisation have 
stated their commitment to a diverse 
workforce and have made clear what is 
expected from staff when delivering services 
to the community 
 
Leadership on equality is demonstrated in a 
way that is recognised and understood by the 
organisation and local communities. 
 
Leaders have publicly committed to 
improving equality in their area. 
 
The organisation has established and 
publicised a strong business case for its 
equality work. 
 
The organisation regularly communicates its 
commitment to promoting equality to staff 
and the community 
 
There is evidence that publications reflect the 
organisation’s commitment to equality and 
fostering good relations. 

Senior leaders can demonstrate their 
commitment to equality in decision making 
and how this informs the way the 
organisation responds to challenges 
 
Senior leaders demonstrate knowledge and 
commitment to equality issues. They ‘walk 
the talk’ 
 
There is evidence that equality 
considerations inform their decision making. 
 
Senior leaders understand the value and 
impact good communications can have and 
ensure that publications, websites and other 
communications channels are as diverse as 
possible 
 
The organisation promotes a positive 
narrative around equality and good relations 
across the whole community 
 
There are examples of where the 
organisation and its partners have had to 
take unpopular decisions but still managed to 
keep local communities on board. 
 
The organisation has taken steps to counter 
negative stereotypes or dispel myths. 

The organisation is able to show that even 
when making difficult decisions it continues 
to demonstrate a clearly articulated and 
meaningful commitment to equality. 
 
Senior leaders have and own clear 
knowledge of local equality priorities and how 
and why they are being addressed. 
 
Senior leaders act as ambassadors for the 
equality agenda. 
 
Senior leaders personally challenge 
inequalities and drive an improvement 
agenda. 
 
Staff, the community or the voluntary and 
community sector can offer good examples 
of how effective communication and 
engagement with the Council has enabled 
the organisation to prevent or manage 
tensions between different equality groups.  
 
The organisation plays a role in ensuring that 
all stakeholders collectively manage the 
conflicting needs of their communities. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 51



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Priorities and Partnership Working 

8.1 
Partnership working arrangements are being 
reviewed with the voluntary and community 
sector and the wider community to ensure 
that local equality priorities are addressed 
 
 

8.2 
There is a coherent, shared vision of equality 
for the local area, with clear priorities which 
have been agreed and understood by all key 
stakeholders, including the voluntary and 
community sector. 
 

8.3 
The organisation can demonstrate success in 
working with partners in the public, private, 
community and voluntary sectors to address 
equality priorities, which are reviewed on a 
regular basis. 
 

Criteria   

Corporate and partnership documents 
capture the commitment of the organisation 
and partners to equality. 
 
Equality objectives are reflected in local 
strategic planning. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There are shared equality priorities, 
objectives and outcomes for the local area 
which are understood and acted on at all 
levels within the organisation. 
 
There is a clear shared vision for the area. 
 
The organisation and its partners monitor, 
review and evaluate performance against 
equality priorities, including inequality and 
health inequality 
 
The results of these activities contribute 
directly to the development of the 
organisation’s objectives. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff, the community or the voluntary and 
community sector give good examples of 
improved outcomes/ reduced inequality/ 
improvements in health inequality 
 
Review mechanisms are in place. 
 
There is evidence that cross-organisational 
learning is taking place. 
 
The community and voluntary sector say that 
they are treated as equal partners by the 
Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 52



 
 

 

Assessing Equality Impact in Policy and Decision Making 

9.1 
Due regard is taken to the aims of the 
general equality duty when making decisions 
and when setting policies 

9.2 
Equality analysis/ impact assessment is 
integrated systematically into planning and 
decision making across the organisation. 

9.3 
The organisation can demonstrate that 
improvements in equality outcomes are being 
delivered as a result of effective equality 
analysis/ impact assessment, and that 
negative impacts have been mitigated. 

Criteria   

The organisation has an agreed approach to 
conducting equality analysis/ impact 
assessment of policy and service decisions. 
 
 
Training and support on equality analysis/ 
impact assessment is available 
 
Impact assessments take account of the 
views of those affected by the policy or 
decision.  
 
There is a process for ensuring that equality 
impact assessments are sufficiently robust. 

There is senior level commitment to using 
and understanding equality analysis/ impact 
assessment to inform planning and decision 
making. 
 
The organisation’s assessments are 
accessible, robust and meaningful. 
 
There is evidence that Members routinely 
take account of equality analysis/ impact 
assessment when making decisions. 
 
Decisions around budget cuts and savings 
have taken account of cumulative impact. 
 
The findings, recommendations and 
conclusions are shared effectively to inform 
decisions and planning. 
Mitigating actions are identified where 
appropriate 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The organisation can demonstrate how 
equality analysis/ impact assessment has 
been used to identify needs and improve 
outcomes/ reduce inequality. 
 
The organisation can provide evidence of 
how or where equality analysis/ impact 
assessment has informed decision-making 
and led to different, tailored services that 
have improved outcomes. 
 
The organisation captures information about 
what budget/service cuts mean to people’s 
lives. 

P
age 53



 
 

 
Equality Objectives and Annual Reporting 

10.1 
Equality objectives for the organisation have 
been set and published in accordance with 
the requirements to support the public sector 
Equality Duty. 

10.2 
Specific and measurable equality objectives 
have been integrated into organisational 
strategies and plans and action is being 
taken to achieve them. Outcomes are 
measured and monitored regularly by senior 
leaders. 

10.3 
The organisation can demonstrate a clear 
link between meeting their equality objectives 
and positive outcomes for its communities 

Criteria 

The specific duty to publish equality 
objectives has been met 
 
Objectives are underpinned by robust 
equality analysis. 
 
Objectives are SMART(Specific, Measurable 
Realistic, Achievable and Timely) 

Equality objectives are integrated into 
organisational strategies and plans. 
 
There is evidence of a link between equality 
objectives, business planning and 
performance management. 
 
Progress is regularly monitored and 
reviewed.  
 
Members are kept informed of progress 
against equality objectives 

There is evidence that equality objectives 
have led to improved outcomes for people 
with protected characteristics 
 
Actions to achieve priority outcomes are 
reviewed and regularly updated. 
 
Steps are taken if deficiencies are identified. 
 
Stakeholders and staff are involved in the 
monitoring of objectives. 
 
An Annual Equality report is published and 
shared 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 54



 

Performance Monitoring and Scrutiny 

11.1 
Appropriate structures are in place to ensure 
delivery and review of equality objectives. 

11.2 
The setting and monitoring of equality 
objectives is subject to challenge, including 
through any organisational bodies or groups 
and the political Overview and Scrutiny 
process. 

11.3 
The organisation uses the scrutiny process 
as a driver for change. The organisation 
benchmarks its achievements against 
comparable others and shares its experience 
in developing good practice. 

Criteria 

There is an appropriate and accountable 
leadership group/ board/ forum who have 
responsibility for the equality agenda. 
 
There are resources for supporting equality 
work. 

The Overview and Scrutiny function is used 
to scrutinise and challenge equality analysis/ 
impact assessment objective setting and 
monitoring? 
 
The public are enabled to monitor progress 
 
Progress and responses are reported 
regularly to the leadership of the organisation 

The organisation assesses its performance 
and outcomes against comparable 
organisations. 
 
Review mechanisms are in place. 
 
Some outcomes and priorities have changed 
as a result of Scrutiny review. 
 
The organisation is approached on a regular 
basis to provide examples of, or showcase 
good practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 55



 

Responsive Services and Customer Care 
Commissioning and Procuring Services 

Developing Achieving Excellent 

12.1 
The organisation ensures that procurement 
and commissioning processes and practice 
take account of the diverse needs of clients, 
and that providers understand the 
requirements of the public sector Equality 
Duty. 

12.2 
Mechanisms are in place to ensure that 
equality standards are embedded throughout 
the procurement cycle. 
 

12.3 
The organisation can demonstrate that 
commissioned/ procured services are helping 
it achieve its equality priorities. 

Criteria 

Guidance is available for suppliers on the 
equality requirements for the procurement 
and commissioning process. 
 
There are standard equality clauses for 
contracts. 

The organisation considers how the public 
pound is spent in regards to local 
procurement and influence on the local 
economy. 
 
Specifications take account of the different 
needs of users, for example through equality 
analysis/ impact assessments. 
 
Monitoring requirements are built into 
contracts to ensure equality issues are 
addressed. 
 
The organisation has an established Social 
Value Framework. The Social value of 
contracts is measured. 
 
The performance of sub- contracting 
arrangements is measured.  
 
 

There is evidence that contracts are being 
monitored using quantitative and qualitative 
analysis. The results are considered by both 
the supplier and client. 
 
There is evidence of providers meeting the 
organisations equality objectives. 
 
Providers understand and can articulate a 
commitment to equality. 
 
The organisation achieves considerable 
social value from Its contracts  
 
Local procurement is positively influencing 
the local economy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 56



 

Integration of equality objectives into service planning 
13.1 
Structures are in place to ensure equality 
outcomes are integrated into business 
objectives. 

13.2 
Equality objectives are integrated into service 
plans across the organisation, with progress 
towards them performance managed by key 
decision makers. 

13.3 
The organisation can demonstrate that 
improvements and equality outcomes are 
being delivered across the business. 

Criteria 

Service plans are monitored regularly to 
ensure that equality objectives are being met.  
 
Equality analysis is fed into planning and 
assessment of service plans. 
 
Customer care policies highlight the needs of 
protected groups. 
 
 

Objectives address inequality and equality 
gaps. 
 
The needs of protected groups are taken 
account of. 
 
Service users have opportunities to comment 
on how services are planned. 
 
Objectives have specific timescales.  
 
Resource implications have been properly 
assessed. 
 
Key decision makers demonstrate that they 
continuously monitor, review and evaluate 
performance for equality objectives. 
 
Equality integrated into the performance 
management. 

Service Plans are designed and written with 
equality objectives in mind. 
 
Business plans review past performance, 
demonstrate how past objectives have been  
achieved, review performance and set new 
objectives. 
 
Gaps have been identified in terms of who 
may not be using the service and why. Action 
has been taken to change services in 
response. 
 
There is evidence of improved or improving 
outcomes, disaggregated where appropriate 
to demonstrate the effects on different 
communities/ protected groups. 
 
There is evidence that Services are being co-
produced with service users. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 57



 

Service Delivery  
14.1 
The organisation has systems to collect, 
analyse and measure how satisfied all 
sections of the community are with services. 

14.2 
There is evidence that services are meeting 
the needs of a diverse community, and that 
take up of services is representative of the 
wider community. 

14.3 
The organisation has systems in place to use 
monitoring data and citizen feedback to 
redesign or adapt services to ensure equity 
of access, and can demonstrate where this 
has been done. 
 

Criteria 

There are mechanisms in place for service 
users to be consulted about service 
development and delivery 
 
Social Value and Collaborative Principles are 
reflected in the organisations practical 
service delivery. 
 
The organisation is able to analyse and 
measure whether all sections of the 
community are able to access services. 
 
It is clear who Service users are. Services 
carry out mapping exercises to identify and 
review current participation and to highlight 
gaps. 
 
The organisation collects data about 
user satisfaction with its services. The 
mapping and satisfaction data collected is 
disaggregated by different equality groups or 
vulnerable communities. 
 
Complaints are disaggregated by protected 
groups. There are mechanisms in place to 
enable staff to introduce business 
improvements. 
 
Appropriate mechanisms are in place to 
ensure that Human Rights considerations are 
identified when planning services and that 
customers and citizens are treated with 
dignity and respect. 

Service users are consulted effectively 
before services are developed.   
 
Issues such as Social Prescription and Social 
Value are used to measure outcomes which 
are not delivered by the organisation. 
 
Access to and appropriateness of services is 
monitored regularly by senior leaders and 
decision makers. 
 
Senior leaders and decision makers 
demonstrate that they continuously review 
and evaluate access to services. 
 
Data about access to services and user 
satisfaction is used in equality analyses/ 
equality impacts assessment 
 
A scrutiny/ evaluation process of services is 
in place. 
 
Human Rights issues are understood and 
considered when delivering services to 
customers and clients. 
 
Human Rights guidance is available for staff 
and decision makers have up to date 
knowledge. 

Services are co-produced with service users 
wherever possible and service users are able 
to influence changes  
 
Initiatives such as Community Asset 
Transfers and Community Right to Challenge 
are in evidence as delivered by local 
communities instead of the local authority. 
 
There is evidence of how levels of customer 
satisfaction with services have improved over 
time.  
 
Take up of services is representative of the 
community in proportions that would be 
expected. 
 
There are examples of how different 
customers’ experiences are analysed and 
acted upon. 
 
The organisation has taken steps to 
safeguard the human rights of individuals 
where these have been threatened. 
 
 

P
age 58



 
 

Diverse and Engaged Workforce 
                                                                                            Workforce Diversity  

Developing Achieving Excellent 

15.1 
The organisation understands its local labour 
market, and has mechanisms in place to 
monitor its workforce against protected 
characteristics. 

15.2 
The organisation can demonstrate movement 
towards greater diversity in its workforce 
profile compared with previous years, 
including increasing the levels of previously 
under- represented groups at all levels of the 
organisation. 

15.3 
The organisation actively ensures that the 
profile of its workforce (including the profile of 
major providers of commissioned services) 
broadly reflects the community it serves/local 
labour market  

Criteria 

The organisation is clear about its local 
labour market. 
 
It has begun to identify the steps it needs to 
take to achieve a diverse workforce. These 
are reflected in recruitment policies and 
procedures. 
 
The progress of protected groups through the 
organisational hierarchy is monitored. 
 
Equality mapping data is used as part of the 
analysis 
 
 
Recruitment and selection is monitored at all 
stages of the process by protected 
characteristics 

Where there is evidence of disproportionality, 
action is being taken to reverse the trends.  
 
Succession plans and recruitment processes 
address under-representation. 
 
Specific and measureable employment 
targets been set to improve workforce 
diversity. 
 
Selection panels are trained in Unconscious 
Bias. This includes senior recruitment panels 
where Members are involved. 

There are appropriate examples of positive 
action to improve diversity. 
 
There is evidence that the workforce profile 
at all levels broadly matches the local labour 
market/community profile. This is continually 
monitored.  
 
There are reasonable explanations for gaps 
(e.g. the community profile is constantly 
changing or largely retired population) and 
what the organisation is doing about it. 
 
Good use is made of flexible working 
arrangements and career pathway initiatives 
to address potential barriers and under 
representation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 59



 

 

 

 

 

                                                                               Inclusive Strategies and Policies  

16.1 
The organisation’s workforce strategies and 
policies include equality considerations and 
objectives.  
 

16.2 
The equality objectives contained within 
workforce strategies are implemented and 
monitored.  

16.3 
Prioritised equality outcomes for the whole 
workforce are being achieved.  

Criteria 

All employment policies and procedures 
comply with equality  legislation and 
employment codes of practice 
The organisation’s workforce strategy 
identifies equality issues. 
Targets and objectives are based on internal 
monitoring, staff consultation and the 
assessment of the local labour market and 
barriers to employment. 
New/changing employment policies and 
procedures are assessed for their impact on 
people with protected characteristics.  
 
All employment and training related policies 
are regularly reviewed. 
 
The council is using its workforce data to 
develop training and development strategies 
that can support a wider equalities agenda 
for employees. 
 
A range of inclusive structures are in place to 
engage and involve staff 
 
 
 
 
 

The organisation has a basic set of policies 
and practices to enhance workforce equality 
and diversity including reasonable 
adjustments, equal pay, flexible working and 
family friendly policies 
 
The equality aspects of the organisation’s 
workforce strategy are being implemented 
and tracked. 
 
When necessary, changes have been made 
as a result of equality analysis findings. 
 
Managers apply policies and practices 
across the authority in a consistent manner 
for all staff. 
 
Staff are engaged positively in employment 
and service transformation and in developing 
new roles and ways of working. Trade unions 
and partners are involved. 
 
The training and development offer supports 
a wider equalities agenda for the 
organisation.  
 
Training courses and development 
interventions are meeting the needs of 

The organisation has an excellent set of 
policies and procedures in place which are 
actively promoted to staff from all protected 
groups and used by managers to promote 
equality. 
Strategic, innovative and holistic approaches 
have been considered to improve outcomes. 
 
Staff are involved in developing and 
monitoring these policies. 
 
Positive and tangible outcomes have been 
delivered as a result of the implementation of 
a wide range of policies and practices. 
The organisation compares well with others. 
 
Outcomes are communicated to staff with 
protected characteristics. 
 
The organisation has high satisfaction levels 
across all staff groups in respect of staff 
engagement. 
 
Training and development strategies are  
proven to be making a significant difference 
to the wider equality agenda for employees 
and for workforce diversity. 

P
age 60



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

different groups, and are making a difference 

in getting underrepresented groups of staff 
up the leadership ladder. 
 

 

                                                                  Collecting, Analysing and Publishing Workforce Data 

17.1 
Systems are in place to collect and analyse 
employment data across a range of practices 
(recruitment, training, leavers, grievance and 
disciplinaries etc). 
 

17.2 
The organisation regularly monitors, 
analyses and publishes employment data in 
accordance with its statutory duties.  

17.3 
The authority has a robust and 
comprehensive set of employment data and 
uses this to inform its workforce strategy and 
management practice.  

Criteria 

The organisation reports annually on its 
Gender Pay Gap. 
 
People are encouraged to provide data and 
there are initiatives in place to increase the 
disclosure of equality information by staff. 
 
 
Diversity monitoring information is separated 
from recruitment decisions and held securely. 
 
GDPR processes are in place and 
regulations are being met. 
   

Data on applicants, people shortlisted and 
the composition of the workforce is 
systematically collected. This can be 
disaggregated by the protected 
characteristics. 
The organisation’s Gender Pay Gap is 
reducing and it is addressing any race pay 
gap. 
There is evidence that workforce data is 
analysed and reported to senior leaders 
regularly. 
 
Workforce information is published to cover 
basic legal requirements and includes 
analysis of pay/job evaluation outcomes. 
 
There is evidence that the organisation is 
actively working on reducing its Gender Pay 
Gap. 
 
Action has been taken as a result of 
monitoring, trends are being identified and 
used to help establish objectives. 
 

Workforce data includes a wide range of 
information and protected characteristic 
profiles including pay levels, training 
opportunities, appraisal ratings. 
 
The organisation considers pay gaps across 
other areas of inequality such as religion and 
belief/ race- ethnicity/ age, disability etc. 
 
The organisation understand the effects of 
employment policy and practice on its 
workforce. 
  
The organisation has sufficient information 
about staff to inform robust equality analysis. 
 
The workforce profile is updated regularly. 
 
Data is looked at organisationally and service 
by service. 
 
It is possible to analyse data by all the 
protected characteristics. 

 

P
age 61



 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                        Learning and Development  

18.1 
The organisation carries out regular 
assessments of the training and learning and 
development needs required to ensure its 
councillors and officers are equipped to 
understand their equality duties and take 
action to deliver equality outcomes. 

18.2 
The organisation provides a range of 
accessible learning and development 
opportunities to support councillors and 
officers in achieving equality objectives and 
outcomes. 

18.3 
Decision makers understand the importance 
of equality when making decisions and in 
how they use resources. Services are 
provided by knowledgeable and well-trained 
staff who are equipped to meet the diverse 
needs of local communities. 

Criteria   

An assessment has been made as to what 
equality-related training, learning or 
development is required 
 
Appropriate behavioural competencies have 
been identified for the workforce. 
 
The learning and development plan/strategy 
take account of equality issues.  
 
Induction training for new Members includes 
equality and all Members are offered Equality 

training. 
  
Appraisal processes ensure staff and 
managers are aware of their equality-related 
responsibilities and accountabilities 

Equality and diversity forms part of the 
training and development for key decision 
makers. 
 
There is evidence that equality issues 
are mainstreamed into all training (e.g. 
training on customer care  
 
Employees are confident that they can 
deliver services to diverse customers. They 
are made aware of equality objectives or any 
changes or improvements. 
 
Different methods are used to promote 
learning to a wide audience (e.g. standard 
courses, coaching, mentoring)? 
 
Management and individual appraisals 
include specific equality objectives for the 
service area 
 
 

Managers and staff are accountable for 
ensuring equality outcomes. They can give 
examples of improved equality outcomes 
they have contributed to. 
 
Good performance is recognised in the 
appraisal process and more generally. 
 
Issues relating to protected characteristics 
and equality practice are challenged 
confidently and effectively by managers. 
 
Staff feel their skills have improved and that 
they are able to relate effectively with a range 
of clients. 
 
Staff can answer questions about the 
council’s equality priorities. 
 
Feedback from service users in protected 
groups is positive about the skills of staff in 
dealing with their issues. 

 

 

 

P
age 62



 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                          Health and Wellbeing 

18.1 
The organisation has begun to consider how 
it can address the key employee health and 
wellbeing issues 

18.2 
The organisation promotes the health and 
well-being of staff in its workforce and other 
policies 

18.3 
There is a positive health and wellbeing 
culture throughout all levels and areas of the 
service 

Criteria 

The organisation uses workforce data and 
other information from staff to determine 
what its health and wellbeing priorities are 
 
The organisation has assessed all aspects of 
the working environment to ensure that the 
needs of all its employees are met 
 
A range of inclusive mechanisms are in place 
to engage and involve staff 
 
Policies and systems are in place to identify, 
prevent and deal effectively with harassment 
and bullying at work. 
 
The organisation has a policy for Reasonable 
Adjustments for staff and Members and 
managers are trained to implement it. 
 
Occupational health services are provided 
 
The organisation has started to address 
mental health issues in the workplace 

There is a coherent Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy that addresses a range of related 
issues. 
 
Improvements have been made to the 
working environment. 
 
Staff are engaged positively in employment 
and service transformation and in developing 
new roles and ways of working. 
 
Reasonable Adjustments are provided in a 
timely fashion consistently across the 
organisation 
 
Occupational health works closely with HR to 
identify and address absence trends. 
 
Managers have received training on mental 
health awareness and say they are equipped 
to address staff issues 
 
Harassment and bullying incidents are 
monitored and analysed regularly. 
Appropriate action is taken to address the 
issues that have been identified. 
 

Approaches to health and wellbeing are 
innovative. 
 
The organisation has adopted the Social 
model of disability 
 
There have been significant outcomes in the 
health and wellbeing of all staff including 
those with protected characteristics. 
 
There are high satisfaction levels with the 
working environment across all staff groups 
particularly those with protected 
characteristics. 
 
The organisation has high satisfaction levels 
across all staff groups in respect of staff 
engagement. 
 
Harassment and bullying at work is dealt with 
effectively and staff say that they are treated 
with dignity and respect.  
 
 

 

 

P
age 63



 

 

 

P
age 64



1

Classification: Public 
Key Decision:  No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 2 February 2021

Reporting officer: Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)

Subject: Tackling Modern Slavery – Progress Report

Purpose and summary of the report:
This report provides the Committee with details of progress being made in tackling modern slavery 
in the Borough, the Committee having considered the Council’s new Modern Slavery Strategy at its 
meeting in September 2020. 

Recommendations:

The Committee is asked to:

i) Consider and offer comment upon the content of the report as appropriate. 

1. Launch of Gravesham’s Modern Slavery Strategy

1.1 At the meeting of the Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee in September 2020, 
Members were provided with the Council’s first dedicated Strategy to tackle modern slavery 
in the Borough.  The Strategy was formally launched in October to coincide with National 
Anti-Slavery Day helping to raise awareness of the issue and encourage anyone directly 
experiencing modern slavery or any third party who believes that modern slavery may be 
taking place to report it.  This report provides the Committee with a brief update on the 
progress that has been made in the last few months since the Strategy’s launch.

1.2 Encouraging debate about modern slavery in all its forms is very important and therefore, 
publicising the work that is taking place locally not only serves to reassure the public 
generally that the Council and partner agencies are being proactive in trying to support 
victims but also to raise awareness more broadly in order that local people will be better 
able to spot the signs and have the confidence to report their concerns.  Launching the 
Modern Slavery Strategy to coincide with National Anti-Slavery Day was useful in that it 
potentially prompted greater media coverage than might otherwise have been achieved.  A 
copy of the extensive article that appeared in the Gravesend Messenger is attached for 
information as Appendix 2a and 2b.

1.3 The winter edition of Your Borough magazine, delivered to all households across the 
Borough, was seen as another opportunity to bring this issue to people’s attention.  A copy 
of the article that appeared in the magazine is attached as Appendix 3.

2. The CSP Modern Slavery Working Group 

2.1 To ensure that the Modern Slavery Strategy can be successfully implemented a multi-
agency Modern Slavery Working Group has been established.  The work of the Group is 
coordinated by the Council’s Community Safety Unit (CSU) and is chaired by the Unit’s 

Page 65 Agenda Item 7



2

Lead Safeguarding Officer.  The Vice-Chair is a colleague from Porchlight (the local charity 
dealing with homelessness in Gravesham) as the charity is a key partner in this work and 
has considerable contact with vulnerable people who are at greater risk of different types of 
exploitation that fall within the definition of modern slavery.

2.2 Since the last Committee meeting, Terms of Reference have been created for the Modern 
Slavery Working Group (attached as Appendix 4) and the Group held its first meeting in 
December 2020.  This was extremely positive and a very encouraging start to what will be a 
longer-term initiative.  As far as we are aware, Gravesham is the only District in Kent to 
have produced a dedicated strategy to tackle modern slavery and we will be sharing details 
of the steps we take and any lessons we learn with other areas to aid good practice.

2.3 A detailed action plan has been developed to support the delivery of the strategy and that 
the Working Group is using to structure its activity and record outcomes.  Progress reports 
will be provided to Gravesham’s Community Safety Partnership at its quarterly meetings 
and also to this Committee on a regular basis.  The first step has been to try to pool 
information held by the different partners so that we can have a better understanding of the 
extent of the problem locally and the types of exploitation that are particularly prominent.  
Currently, labour exploitation appears to be the primary strand of modern slavery in 
Gravesham with victims often tied to their exploiter because they also provide their 
accommodation, having no other sources of income and having become ‘indebted’.  The 
Council’s Lead Safeguarding Officer is also currently reviewing all our internal policies and 
procedures in order that we have defined lines of responsibility and clarity on steps to follow 
when cases come to light so that any delay in acting is avoided. 

3. Local cases

3.1 The development of the Strategy and the Working Group has already strengthened joint 
working and the sharing of intelligence between partner agencies.  The CSU are in regular 
contact with Porchlight colleagues who have been fundamental in helping to identify 
vulnerable people who are potential victims of modern slavery and with Kent Police 
colleagues who lead on Modern Slavery.  The CSU and the Council’s Housing Services 
have been actively in supporting several people believed to be victims of labour 
exploitation.  

3.2 Referrals through the National Referral Mechanism (NRM) (to report these cases to the 
Home Office Modern Slavery Unit) have been completed, assessed and given ‘Reasonable 
Grounds’ decisions i.e. there are reasonable grounds on the basis of the details provided 
that the individuals are considered potential victims of modern slavery.  These individuals 
have been housed outside of the Borough and are being supported until a final decision on 
their status is received i.e. whether there are Conclusive Grounds that they are victims of 
modern slavery.  Agencies are sharing as much information as possible to strengthen the 
evidence that may enable formal action to be taken against the suspected perpetrator 
believed to be responsible for the exploitation of these victims.

3.2 The proactive approach being taken locally is having an effect.  Crisis (a national 
homelessness charity) has been funded by Central Government to collate details of cases 
to try to build a picture of reports of modern slavery taking place across the country (the 
TILI Project).  The modern slavery cases reported to the Project for July-September 2020 
are listed below by the Local Authority area in which they took place.  This data is clearly 
very heavily influenced by the organisations that are collecting information for the Project 
(Porchlight is one) and does not necessarily reflect national trends or the prevalence of 
modern slavery in one area rather than another.  It does however undoubtedly demonstrate 
the proactive approach being taken in identifying victims in Gravesham and the fact that 
these cases are being reported is extremely positive.

Page 66



3

Number of cases by Local Authority area as reported to the TILI Project
July-September 2020

3.3 A further early priority for the Working Group will be the development and delivery of 
training on both spotting the signs of modern slavery but also very importantly, how to 
report it and for Council staff and Members, the procedural steps to be followed, including 
how to complete an NRM referral.  Given the current restrictions imposed due to Covid-19, 
officers will be considering how this training can be delivered on-line.

Page 67



4

APPENDIX 1
IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                             
Legal The Council has a statutory obligation to work with partner agencies to address 

crime and ASB and SOC (Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and Serious Organised 
Crime Act 2015).  It has specific duties as a First Responder agency and as 
contained within s.52 Modern Slavery Act 2015.

Finance and 
Value for Money

Delivery of the Strategy has a resource implication in terms of officer time but this 
is being met through the current capacity within the CSU (Strategic Manager, 
Operational Manager, Lead Safeguarding Officer and Administrator) as part of 
daily CSU business.  Some funding to support aspects of the project will be 
capable of being met through the CSU’s annual working budget (and potentially 
through external funding subject to successful bids to the PCC (Crime Reduction 
Grant) and Central Government funding opportunities.

Risk assessment Failure to have in place clearly understood procedures to effectively support a 
victim of modern slavery coming to our attention would carry the risk of also failing 
to meet our statutory responsibilities, place the victim at risk of further harm and 
potentially damage the reputation of the Council.
A data protection impact assessment (OPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve 
the processing of personal data or special category data or criminal 
offence data? Potentially but only in respect of individual cases at an 
operational level; no, in respect of the Strategy.

b. If yes to question a., have you completed and attached a DPIA including 
Data Protection Officer advice? N/a

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b., please seek advice from your nominated DPIA 
assessor or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups 
in the community?  No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make 
a positive contribution to promoting equality? Yes – it will increase our 
ability to protect often the most vulnerable of people from harm and ensure 
that they have equal access to support and assistance.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate 
Business Plan

The Modern Slavery Strategy makes a direct contribution to improving public 
safety linked to People and Place in the Corporate Plan.

Crime and 
Disorder

The Strategy will form part of the Council’s and the CSP’s programme of work to 
improve community safety and protecting vulnerable people from harm.

Climate Change None.
Digital/website 
website 
implications

None at this stage.  There is an intention to develop a Modern Slavery Information 
Hub within the Community Safety section on the Council’s website during 2021.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The safeguarding of vulnerable young people and adults is a high priority for the 
Council and partner agencies; work to address modern slavery contributes to the 
Authority’s Safeguarding policy and could potentially be seen as a good practice 
model county-wide.

Page 68



Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



YOUR BOROUGH MAGAZINE – Winter 2020

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Modern Slavery Working Group                    App 4
Terms of Reference

1. Purpose
1.1 The ultimate purpose of the Group is to bring together key local agencies to work 

collaboratively to ensure people in Gravesham who are identified or present as potential 
victims of modern slavery are given the best advice and practical support available to protect 
them from harm.  The Group will have a primary role in coordinating the delivery of a range of 
initiatives to meet the objectives of Gravesham’s Modern Slavery Strategy 2020-2023.  

1.2 An Action Plan has been produced to provide a clear structure for work to be carried out and 
this ‘live’ document will be used to record and monitor progress.  

2. Definition of Modern Slavery
2.1 The definition of modern slavery adopted by the Working Group is that contained within the 

Modern Slavery Act 2015 s.1-4: 

a) Slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour (s.1) – where are person holds 
another person in slavery or servitude or requires them to perform forced or compulsory 
labour and the person knows or ought to know that the other is being so held or required 
to perform;

b) Human trafficking (s.2-3) – an offence is committed where a person arranges or 
facilitates the travel of another person with a view to that person being exploited.  
‘Exploitation’ includes: slavery, servitude, forced or compulsory labour, sexual 
exploitation, organ removal, securing services by force, threats or deception and securing 
services from children or vulnerable people;

c) Facilitating human trafficking (s.4) – where an offence is committed with the intention of 
facilitating human trafficking e.g. providing false documents.

3. Key Objectives
3.1 The key objectives of the Group are to:

i) To raise awareness of modern slavery;
ii) To combat modern slavery by working in partnership and providing mutual support 

between agencies;
iii) To ensure that sound processes and procedures are in place to help identify and support 

potential victims of modern slavery;
iv) To share intelligence and knowledge that may help to disrupt perpetrators and assist with 

bringing them to justice;
v) To develop an understanding of different agencies powers and their capacity to 

contribute towards addressing modern slavery;
vi) To adopt, develop and share good practice.

4. Membership
4.1 The Group will comprise of representatives of the following agencies (to form the ‘core 

membership’) but membership will be open to representatives from any statutory, voluntary 
or community organisation that wishes to join to contribute to the efforts of the Group.  It is 

Page 75



also anticipated that the membership of the Group will grow as work progresses and will 
reflect the specific initiatives and activities that may be delivered.

Core Membership

 Gravesham Borough Council (Community Safety Unit, Private Housing and Housing 
Options);

 Kent Police (Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Team);
 Porchlight;
 Choices (Domestic Abuse Service);
 Kent Equality Cohesion Council;
 Rethink Mental Illness.

4.2 Each organisation will be represented by at least one staff member (in the case of the Council, 
each Department will be represented).  In cases where a representative is unable to attend, 
they should seek to nominate a deputy to represent the organisation in their place or provide 
a written update on any activity for which they have accepted lead responsibility.

4.3 Individuals with specialist knowledge and/or experience may be invited to attend meetings 
without requiring a commitment of regular attendance.

5. Working Methods

i) The Group will meet on a monthly basis for the first 6 months from its inaugural meeting 
and the regularity of meetings will then be reviewed and subject to the level of progress 
being made, may then meet every 6 weeks (bi-monthly);

ii) Gravesham Borough Council will host the meetings (unless there is a wish for a meeting 
to be held at a partner organisation).  Meetings will allow for attendance in person but a 
dial-in option will be offered;

iii) The Chair and Vice-Chair will be agreed at the inaugural meeting and can be reviewed at 
any time by Group consensus;

iv) Meetings will be arranged and administered by Gravesham’s Community Safety Unit;

v) The Group’s Action Plan will serve as a live working document that will be updated by the 
Community Safety Unit following each meeting and the updated version will be circulated 
to all members with Agenda papers prior to each meeting;

vi) There is an expectation of confidentiality.  Individual cases should not be routinely 
discussed by this Group as a separate Gravesham Safeguarding Group will be accepting 
referrals of individuals who are potential victims of modern slavery and coordinating 
support activity for them.  Other restricted information relating to potential victims, 
perpetrators, premises and/or geographical locations believed to be linked to modern 
slavery should be referred to the Gravesham Serious Organised Crime Panel;

Page 76



vii) In the normal course of events, the anticipation is that this Group will only deal with de-
personalised information.  Should the Group consider it appropriate to exchange personal 
information with other partners at a meeting, this will be dealt with in a separate section 
of the meeting with only those agencies with a direct interest in the case present.  All 
information sharing must conform to the local protocols established to facilitate 
exchange of information between agencies under Section 115 of the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998 as amended.  Any agencies who are not a party to the Kent and Medway 
Information-Sharing Agreement will be receiving the information on a confidential ‘need 
to know’ basis and as secondary disclosure for the purposes of the Data Protection Act 
1998. Agencies should not, therefore, divulge any information received without the 
consent of the agency owning the information or data.

6. Governance and Accountability

6.1 The delivery of Gravesham’s Modern Slavery Strategy is a key priority for the Borough’s 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and this Working Group will be an operational group of 
the CSP.  The CSP meets on a quarterly basis and a formal report of progress being made by 
this Group in delivering the Strategy will be provided to each meeting.  

6.2 The Strategy has also been adopted by Gravesham Borough Council as a key commitment and 
therefore, progress will also be reported to the Council’s Community and Leisure Cabinet 
Committee at regular intervals and to the Council’s Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee. 

6.3 The Group may agree to provide presentations and/or reports on its activity to other 
agencies, organisations and meetings as appropriate e.g. Local Safeguarding Boards.

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee

Date: 2 February 2021

Reporting officer: Tourism and Town Twinning Manager
Assistant Director (Communities)
 

Subject: Gravesham Tourism and Heritage Strategy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report responses to consultation and outline additional associated work which has 
influenced the amendments proposed to the Tourism and Heritage Strategy prior to its 
approval by the Cabinet Member for Community & Leisure.

Recommendations:
1. That the Cabinet Committee makes known its views on the amendments proposed to 

the draft Tourism and Heritage Strategy (appendix 2). 

1. Consultation on the draft Tourism and Heritage Strategy

1.1 A draft strategy was reported to this Cabinet Committee in September 2020 prior 
to consultation with tourism organisations, local businesses, visitors and residents. 
The consultation took place from 9 December to 17 January via the Council’s 
website, Visit Gravesend Facebook and Twitter pages, and via email databases.

1.2 The headline responses from the consultation are as follows:

1.2.1 99 people/organisations participated in the survey - 87% local residents, 
4% local businesses and 3% tourism organisations, 6% other.

1.2.2 53% of responses view Tourism in Gravesham as important; 36% view it 
as very important.

1.2.3 When asked “What do you think is important about Gravesham’s appeal to 
visitor?”, the top 5 answers were - its history, the river, its built heritage, its 
buildings/architecture, the villages and countryside.

1.2.4 When asked “What do you value the most about the borough’s heritage?”, 
the most popular answers were - Riverside/Riverfront; Gravesham's 
History; Gravesham’s Heritage; Architecture/Buildings; Parks and Green 
Spaces; 

Page 79 Agenda Item 8



2

1.2.5 When asked “Have you visited any attractions in Gravesham?”, 92% said 
yes, 8% said no. The most popular answers regarding the places visited 
were– The riverside; New Tavern Fort and Gardens; the Promenade and 
Canal Basin area; Pocahontas/St George’s Church; country parks; 
Gravesend Borough Market; Windmill Hill.

1.2.6 When asked about ranking the 7 objectives within the strategy (1 lowest to 
5 highest), the results show the following:

Objective
Very 
High

High Medium

1 Increase day visits and longer stays 32% 25% 27%
2 Grow the stock, quality and variety 

of visitor accommodation
25% 26% 30%

3 Strengthen Gravesham’s visitor 
offer

50% 27% 13%

4 A programme of festival, arts and 
cultural activities to appeal to 
visitors from further afield

50% 24% 13%

5 Extend the effectiveness of 
Gravesham’s visitor information and 
promotion

45% 28% 14%

6 Strengthen local partnership 
working, skills and work 
opportunities within the tourism and 
hospitality sector

40% 35% 16%

7 Value and coordinate the expertise, 
archiving and interpretation of 
Gravesham’s heritage and telling its 
story

54% 27% 9%

1.2.7 Objectives in respect of interpretation of Gravesham’s heritage/story; 
strengthening Gravesham’s visitor offer; and a programme of festival, arts 
and cultural activities were ranked the highest.

1.2.8 A number of issues were raised repeatedly by respondents:  the tired 
appearance of the town and its cleanliness; the need for a wider range and 
quality eateries; the need for an art space and museum; the value of the 
borough’s culture and heritage; lack of shopping experience; focus in 
investing in the leisure and hospitality businesses.  These demonstrate 
that respondent’s perceptions of the Borough’s visitor experience are 
linked with wider improvements. 

1.2.9 The consultation demonstrates the importance that respondent place on 
tourism and heritage in the Borough, indicate what respondents value as 
being important and their ranking of the objectives support the need to do 
more to do more to make more of the Borough’s tourism and heritage 
product.  This is consistent with the overall direction of the strategy.

1.2.10 Consideration could be given to reordering the objectives in the strategy to 
reflect priorities.

Page 80



3

2. Value and Volume of Tourism 2019

2.1 Since reporting the draft strategy, the Council has received an update on the 
economic impact of tourism in Gravesham for 2019.  The value & volume of 
tourism is derived from the tourism sector recognised “Cambridge Model”. 

2.1.1 Tourism was worth an estimated £124 million to the Gravesham economy 
and supported an estimated 2,793 jobs.

2.1.2 Gravesham received 2.1 million visits, made up of 186,000 staying trips 
(8.8%) and 1.9 million day trips (90.5%).

2.1.3 Out of the 186,000 staying trips, 79% were domestic visitors and 21% 
were overseas visitors.

2.1.4 The main visitor expenditure was on retail, food and drink and transport.

2.2 These figures have been updated in the strategy.  They are based on data 
available before the Pandemic, but are still helpful in indicating the relative 
importance of tourism to the Borough’s economy and as a baseline for measuring 
recovery and future change.

3. Experiential Tourism 

3.1 Gravesham is participating in a legacy Interreg project named ‘EXPEREIENCE’ 
with Visit Kent, Kent AONB and other Kent partners.  This project focuses on the 
development of tourism ‘product’ with a focus on Kent’s ‘Experiential Offer’.

3.2 Work has progressed to a point where it can influence the objectives of the 
tourism and heritage strategy and development of Gravesham’s appeal to visitors.  
The project is helping to focus on development of visitor ‘experiences’, especially 
those designed for smaller groups which can be bookable in advance.  This is an 
appropriate way forward for Gravesham to attract and recover its visitors post the 
Pandemic.

3.3 ‘Experiential’ tourism is a growing influence on visitor choices with the key trends 
being that:

3.3.1 Visitors are looking for local & authentic experiences, where they feel less 
like a tourist and more like a local.  In the search for authenticity, the most 
popular experience is one that takes them behind the scenes to gain an 
insight into a different way of life, culture or industry. 

3.3.2 An experience leaves the visitor ‘positively’ changed – Transformative 
Travel.  This can be through education, wellbeing and mindfulness or by 
gaining a deeper insight and understanding. 

3.3.3 Engaging with the countryside – accentuated by lockdown, there is an 
increased desire to get out into the countryside. Although walking and 
cycling are key activities, when this is combined with other interests such 
as food & drink or heritage, the consumers’ interest increases significantly.

3.4 Research shows that that 65% of the domestic visitor market book an ‘experience’ 
before leaving home; 80% looking to book an ‘experience’ are prepared to travel 
up to an hour, any longer and the percentage drops dramatically; 60% are 
influenced by an ‘experience’ when selecting a destination.

Page 81



4

3.5 Gravesham has many visitor and heritage strengths, identified within the tourism 
and heritage strategy, and the EXPERIENCE project is helping to identify 
opportunities to develop visitor and heritage ‘experiences’ and addressing gaps.  
The project recommends expanding Gravesham’s ‘product’ around the following 
themes:

3.5.1 Food & Drink – to appeal to the growing interest in local food and drink.  
Such experiences are the most popular bookable visitor product across 
promotional platforms.  The diversity of Gravesham’s food and drink offer 
can be promoted with trails, visits to producers, markets, etc.

3.5.2 Multicultural interest – e.g. guided visits to the Gurdwara; raising the profile 
of Gravesham’s established programme of cultural festivals, linked to other 
visits and events, e.g. at the Borough Market, generate a reason to travel 
and appealing interest beyond the local community

3.5.3 Heritage – e.g. Dickens related experiences, including guided visits to 
Gad’s Hill Place, walking tours of Higham and Cobham, linking to the 
North Downs Way; river based trips and guided tours of Gravesham’s 
defence heritage.

3.5.4 Markets – building upon the current market offer and cultural events, 
notwithstanding the impact of the Pandemic, alongside its heritage and 
place within the Town’s story.

3.5.5 Pop culture - Linking into the ‘playcation’ trend for gaming, 
experience/panic rooms, especially in respect of their appeal to younger 
people and families and ‘off season’.  Strengthening Gravesham’s appeal, 
aligned with London Resort’s potential offer.

3.6 Specifically, access to the countryside, long distance trails and points of historic 
interest are some of the Borough’s strengths.  Generally, 39% of a domestic 
audience and 29% of international visitors show a high interest in the countryside; 
and Gravesham’s proximity to large concentrations of populations create the 
potential to draw more visitors from within less than one-hour’s journey time.

3.7 ‘Experience’ products can be developed around Food & Drink; Hidden Heritage; 
Literacy; Agriculture; Health and Pilgrimage (Pilgrim’s Way/North Downs Way).  
Opportunities include: 

3.7.1 ‘Taster’ walks – self-guided or guide led, linked with countryside activities, 
points of heritage interest.

3.7.2 Pilgrimage/transformative walks linking to the North Downs Way and Kent 
Downs

3.7.3 Capitalising on the Borough’s string of Country Parks within the Kent 
Downs AONB – perfect backdrops for rural courses and activity, such as 
wild cooking and foraging. 

3.7.4 Widening access to the countryside for the Borough’s diverse 
communities.

Page 82



5

4. COVID-19 Context

4.1 The Tourism and Heritage strategy has been written in a time of uncertainty, 
during which the tourism, leisure and hospitality sector has been severely 
impacted and will be different as and when recovery starts to take shape.

4.2 The Experience project is helping businesses within the sector to adapt, to 
diversify and develop new ‘product’; encouraging collaboration within and beyond 
the sector, aiming to reach new audiences, help recovery and create greater 
resilience.

4.3 Visit Kent are looking to work with businesses/organisations through the 
Experience Development Programme offering a range of support to build and 
launch new products, including specialist 1:1 consultancy and business planning, 
new photography, marketing campaigns and proactive testing and sales with the 
travel trade.

4.4 Four Gravesham businesses have signed up to the programme so far, including 
The Panic Room, Meopham Valley Vineyard, Stable House Meditation and White 
Horse Farm.  The Tourism Manager is encouraging others to apply and has also 
submitted an expression of interest around support for Food and Drink trails on 
behalf of the Council’s own development activity.

4.5 This activity can be reflected in the action planning associated with delivery of the 
strategy.

5. London Resort Update 

5.1 London Resort’s proposals was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate at the end 
of 2020.  These have the potential to significantly change the way visitors perceive 
Gravesham as a place to visit.  The strategy recognises the need to understand in 
more detail the relationship, especially in respect of visits and stays ‘beyond the 
park’.  These can be incorporated into this strategy and the action plan as they 
become better known.

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 83



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal No implications at this stage

Finance and Value 
for Money 

No additional budget requests at this point in time. Any future budgetary 
requirements will be sought following existing procedures i.e. via a Management 
Team report.

Risk Assessment This report is a positive action to raise the profile of Gravesham as a tourism 
destination and bring economic benefits to the Borough.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #2 Place - a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.
Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage:  support local groups and community 
reach and expand the visitor economy

Climate Change The strategy needs to complement the Council’s carbon neutral commitments. 

Crime and Disorder No direct implications

Page 84

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

Digital and website 
implications

Promotion of our key themes and priorities will be delivered through the Visit 
Gravesend website and social media channels. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

Appendix 2

Tourism & Heritage Strategy
1. Introduction

1.1 This strategy has been written at a time of uncertainty and with the Coronavirus 
pandemic having a considerable impact on the hospitality, tourism and leisure 
sectors.  The strategy identifies Gravesham’s priorities for tourism and heritage 
and supports actions which will help recovery of these sectors locally.

1.2 The strategy is aligned with the Council’s Corporate Plan, but extends to 2025, 
recognising the opportunities which will be forthcoming in the medium term and 
the Council’s longer term vision and aspirations. 

1.3 Tourism entails the movement of people to countries or places beyond their usual 
environment for personal or business/professional purposes1 and takes three 
basic forms – domestic tourism, inbound tourism and outbound tourism.  ‘Tourism 
product’ includes visitor accommodation, hospitality, transport services, guided 
tours and tourist guides, travel agencies and other reservations services, cultural 
services, sports and recreational activities and retail. 

1.4 In 2019, Tourism was worth an estimated £124 million to the Gravesham 
economy and supported an estimated 2793 jobs. (Source: Cambridge Model, 
2019 – Appendix 4). Despite that benefit to the local economy Gravesham attracts 
a disproportionate low share (approximately only 4%) of Kent’s visitors and hence 
their expenditure and derived employment.

1.5 This is primarily due to Gravesham having a small stock of visitor accommodation 
and a limited number of commercial visitor attractions, both of which would help to 
attract visitors and increase expenditure in the Borough. 

1.6 The potential for tourism to contribute more to the local economy is recognised by 
the Council with emphasis within its Corporate Plan. The overall aim of the 
strategy is: To be proud of and promote and preserve Gravesham’s identity, 
history, heritage, art and culture, including its assets, in order to develop and 
enhance our tourism offer that can contribute towards economy and safeguard our 
heritage for future generations. 

Gravesham Corporate Plan

#2 Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy 
taking advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active 
community.

Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage:  Support local groups in their 
community reach and expand the visitor economy.

1.7 Partnership working with tourism agencies, businesses and the voluntary sector is 
critical to growing the visitor economy and valuing the Borough’s heritage.  This 

1 United Nations World Tourism Organisation (UNWTO)

Page 87

http://www2.unwto.org/


2 | P a g e

requires a commitment to a shared vision in support securing additional resources 
and investment.

2. Gravesham - Connected for Visitors

2.1 Gravesham has many locational advantages:

High Speed links to London St Pancras, excellent rail connections to London 
Charing Cross, London Victoria and other Kent destinations, including the Kent 
coast.

Proximity to Ebbsfleet International Station with Eurostar connectivity to 
Continental Europe (although travel has been temporarily suspended from the 
station due to Covid 19, it is hoped it will resume soon).

Ease of connection to the national highway network via the A2/M2, M20 and M25, 
to the Channel Tunnel, Kent’s ports and national airports.

Gravesend’s historic role as the gateway to the Port of London on the River 
Thames, connection to the London International Cruise Terminal and plans for 
river commuter services. 

Starting point/way mark for long distance walks and cycle routes - the Weald Way 
(Gravesend to Eastbourne), Saxon Shore Way (Gravesend to Rye), North Downs 
Way and National Cycle Route 1.

Historic crossing point of the Thames between Kent and Essex via the Gravesend 
& Tilbury Ferry.

High quality landscapes, characterful villages and heritage interest within the Kent 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and surrounding countryside.

2.2 Gravesham is well placed to benefit from tourism, primarily for day visitors but with 
the potential to increase short stay visits, in guest accommodation and stays with 
friends and family.

2.3 Whilst progress is being made to develop Gravesham’s offer to visitors, it has yet 
to fully capitalise on the advantages of its location. These advantages make it 
possible for the area to become better known as a destination and as a base for a 
visit to London and Kent.

3. Gravesham’s Distinctive Qualities, Heritage and Assets

3.1 All places have a history and each has heritage.  ‘History’ relates to the discovery, 
collection, organisation and presentation of information about the past of people, 
places and events.  The word ‘heritage’ refers to those things from the past which 
are valued enough today for them to be saved for future generations and heritage 
is normally associated with artefacts, sites, buildings, traditions, literature, etc.

3.2 The Borough’s historic associations, buildings, landmarks and parks define 
Gravesham’s ‘story’ and are what makes Gravesham distinctive and attractive.  
They are the subject of immense local and civic pride and create a framework for 

Page 88



3 | P a g e

strengthening Gravesham’s local culture.  Together they comprise a unique offer 
for visitors to the area. 

Gravesham’s heritage and visitor assets comprise:

The Thames riverside and its history around shipping, immigration etc.

Strong associations with important historic figures, including Charles Dickens, 
Pocahontas, General Gordon and others.

A unique ‘cluster’ of defence heritage, associated with the protection of London - 
New Tavern Fort, Shornemead Fort, the Woodlands Cold War bunker, Gravesend 
Blockhouse.

Industrial heritage derived from its Thames-side position and as a cradle of 
innovation in cement, paper, power and engineering.

Exceptional countryside with the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
Thames Estuary and popular country parks at Shorne Woods, Trosley, Camer 
Park and Jeskyns Forestry Park.

Historic landscapes at Cobham Park, Ashenbank Woods and Mausoleum, 
Cobham Hall.

Characterful rural settlements at Cobham, Luddesdown, Lower Higham, Sole 
Street and Meopham.

Gad’s Hill Place – the home of Charles Dickens.

Cultural diversity with a range of cultural and community and the largest Sikh 
Gurdwara complex in Europe.

A strengthening cluster of arts and cultural activity.

An expanding ‘experiential’ visitor offer, including the open air multi-sport centre at 
Cyclopark and Panic Room’s cluster of escape rooms in Gravesend Town Centre.

Gravesham’s leisure and entertainment facilities 

3.3 Despite the variety and strengths of Gravesham’s heritage, qualities and assets, 
as things stand, Gravesham is lacking a concentrated cluster of commercial visitor 
and heritage attractions which would help develop the visitor economy further.

3.4 The operation of heritage sites in the Borough rely heavily on volunteers and most 
of these open seasonally and often only for a couple of days a week or as with 
Gad’s Hill Place and Cobham Hall during school holidays. 

3.5 Gravesham has a series of strong heritage themes which can create an attractive 
offer for visitors, but it will be those visitor attractions which are open throughout 
the year, especially within the expanding ‘experiential’ sector, together with 
additional visitor accommodation, which will contribute to a growing visitor 
economy.

Page 89



4 | P a g e

3.6 Part of Gravesham’s draw to visitors is the town centre, its independent/distinctive 
businesses and its strengthening arts and cultural offer, including the Woodville 
theatre/cinema programme.

3.7 Given the disparate nature of Gravesham’s offer, supporting data as to why 
people visit, needs to be collated more effectively.

3.8 Clarity as to why people are visiting and how that might change, can be 
strengthened through the undertaking of some branding work to define the 
Borough’s messaging and marketing going forward.

4. Planning Policy Framework – Tourism and Heritage

4.1 The Gravesham Local Plan, as the development framework for the future of the 
Borough, recognises the role that tourism and heritage have to the Gravesham 
economy, specifically Town Centre regeneration and sustainable rural 
diversification.

4.2 Policy CS09 – Culture & Tourism – applies a sequential approach to the provision 
of new tourist facilities appropriate to their location and accessibility; supports 
proposals which meet the diversity of Gravesham as a multi-cultural community; 
and, supports sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit rural 
businesses, communities and visitors, compatible to countryside protection 
policies.

4.3 The Local Plan also encourages a positive approach to the Borough’s historic 
environment to ensure that the historic character and distinctiveness of the 
Borough is conserved and enhanced, especially within an area of significant 
change, investment and development.  The Borough’s key heritage assets are 
recognised as including:

4.3.1 300 plus Listed Buildings of which a significant number are of local historic 
and/or architectural value.

4.3.2 23 Conservation Areas

4.3.3 9 Scheduled Monuments

4.3.4 Historic landscapes, landscape features, parks and gardens

4.3.5 Known archaeological sites and areas of archaeological significance

4.4 Policy CS20 – Heritage and the Built Environment – gives high priority towards the 
preservation, protection and enhancement of its heritage and historic 
environment.  This is especially so where their interpretation contributes to the 
distinct identity of the Borough. 

5. Opportunities to Expand the Visitor Economy

5.1 Gravesham is responding constructively to the opportunities that are coming 
forward to expand the local visitor economy:

Plans to extend fast river services to and from Central London, provision for 
visiting leisure craft and growing numbers of visitors from the International Cruise 
Terminal – these have the potential to renew the contribution that the River can 

Page 90



5 | P a g e

make to bringing visitors into the area and reinforce what is considered to be 
Gravesham’s unique selling point.

New rail and road infrastructure, including the potential extension of Crossrail and 
the Lower Thames crossing.

The Council’s plans for regeneration of Gravesend Town Centre will revitalise and 
create a broader mix of entertainment, leisure and restaurants in the Town, 
together with additional hotel development.

The Council’s arts and cultural strategy highlights and strengthens the Borough’s 
cultural offer, creating new performance, gallery spaces, and creative workspaces 
and hosting artistic commissions in support of the major arts festivals – England’s 
Creative Coast and Estuary 2021.

Ebbsfleet Garden City on the western edge of the Borough is bringing more 
people to live and work in the area, stimulating new business opportunities and 
visitor growth.

Proposals for the London Resort entertainment resort is a ‘game changer’ in 
attracting visitor numbers and expanding visitor accommodation in the area.  The 
challenge will be to attract visitor spend beyond the Resort.

New cycling and walking routes connecting countryside, villages and the urban 
area, enabling visitors to explore in a more sustainable and environmentally 
friendly way - “The Last Mile”.

5.2 Together, these add considerable confidence to Gravesham’s ability to grow 
tourism as part of its overall ambition for a vibrant and productive economy.

6. The Importance of Tourism to the Gravesham Economy

6.1 Nationally, tourism and heritage are important drivers of economic growth and 
regeneration; they have the potential to attract other investment and to support a 
variety of work, volunteering and skills development opportunities.  The tourism 
sector is the fifth largest contributor to the national economy. 

6.2 The most recent research undertaken in 2019 (Source: Cambridge Model) 
concluded that the volume and value of tourism activity in the Gravesham 
economy can be summarised as follows:

£124m generated by tourism activity for local businesses

2793 jobs supported 

2.1 million visits per year; made up of 186,000 staying trips and 1.9 million day 
trips

Out of the 186,000 staying trips, 79% were domestic visitors and 21% were 
overseas visitors.

The main visitor expenditure is on retail, food and drink and transport.

6.3 Day visits overwhelmingly dominate the pattern of trips for Gravesham.  Short 
stays represent around 10% of visits, predominantly social and friends and family 

Page 91



6 | P a g e

stays (67%), with some business stays and visits to London.  The priority is to 
increase the volume of stays and to expand overnight stays, raising the area’s 
profile for visits from further afield, including international visits.

6.4 Visitor figures demonstrate that Gravesham has the smallest visitor economy 
within Kent and attracts a disproportionate low share (approximately 4%) of Kent’s 
visitors, their expenditure and derived employment.  Given the size of the local 
economy relative to other Kent Districts, Gravesham ought to be looking to 
increase the value of tourism to at least 6% of Kent’s visitors. From these figures, 
it is clear that the full capability of Gravesham to contribute more to Kent’s visitor 
economy has yet to be realised.

6.5 The aim of this strategy is therefore to take steps to expand this part of the 
economy.  The key priorities being to expand visitor accommodation and add 
more to its attractions, especially where they support local investment and 
expenditure.

7. Visitor Accommodation

7.1 The current stock of visitor accommodation in Gravesham is as made up of the 
following:

Accommodation Type Total Bedrooms

Hotels 370

B&B, Guest Houses 44

Pubs & Inns 24

Self-Catering (inc AirBnB = 57 as at Aug 2020) 78

Total 516

Page 92



7 | P a g e

9%
4%

5%

72%

11%

B&B and Guest Houses
Self-catering
Pub Stays
Hotels
Air BnB Accommodation

Gravesham Visitor Accommodation %age

7.2 Recent trends have shown the decline in national standard grading schemes, with 
their replacement by customer online reviews; additional hotel development with 
an expansion of the Premier Inn at Woodlands Park and a new Travelodge at 
Coldharbour Road (61 bedrooms) which opened in 2019.  The rise of AirBnB 
accommodation has seen the introduction of approximately 57 bedrooms in 
Gravesham, with 50% of those being single rooms as opposed to multi-bedroom 
properties.

7.3 The changes taking place and greater options on offer when it comes to bookable 
visitor accommodation are having a dramatic impact on visitor preferences and 
behaviour and in some circumstances visitor experiences are being promoted 
alongside accommodation bookings.

7.4 There has also been growth in visitor accommodation surrounding the Borough, 
notably with the new Spring River Ebbsfleet (Marstons – 104 bedrooms).
The Ebbsfleet Garden City is accommodating some additional visitor 
accommodation adjoining the Borough to the west, currently in the form of 
pub/hotels.  The Implementation Plan (https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2017/04/Ebbsfleet-Implementation-Framework.pdf) identifies 
45,750 sm of hotel development over the duration of the plan.

7.5 Proposals for London Resort – “A world-class, sustainable, next generation 
entertainment resort” - have become clearer through the recent consultation 
(August 2020) as part of the Development Planning Order process.  

In matters of accommodation provision, it comprises the following:

 Four hotels providing family, upmarket, luxury and themed accommodation 
totalling up to 3,550 suites.

 Up to 500 apartments for London Resort workers, typically consisting of 4-
6 bedrooms and shared kitchen and lounge facilities.

Page 93

https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Ebbsfleet-Implementation-Framework.pdf
https://ebbsfleetdc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Ebbsfleet-Implementation-Framework.pdf


8 | P a g e

7.6 Hotels report great variations in their occupancy, albeit figures are difficult to come 
by on a consistent basis.

7.7 Traditionally, hotel demand has been focused alongside the A2 corridor, but the 
prospect for this to change with greater interest in the Town Centre, including 
proposals for an 88 bed hotel in St George’s Phase 2, benefitting from the 
connectivity that Highspeed 1 brings the Town.

7.8 Ensuring the quality of visitor accommodation in the Borough remains an issue 
with the decline in national grading systems.  The Kent Charter was set-up in 
2012 to create the opportunity for accommodation to sign-up to local standards, 
and whilst a number of Gravesham businesses have signed-up to this, it has not 
been widely adopted. 

7.9 The following priority actions for visitor accommodation have been identified 
during the strategy period:

7.9.1 Participation in the Kent Hotel Accommodation Study being undertaken by 
CCCU, Visit Kent and Locate in Kent to identify the potential for visitor 
accommodation growth.

7.9.2 Support a mix of quality and affordable visitor accommodation as well as 
hotel development within the town centre. Seek to address gaps in other 
forms of visitor accommodation, including glamping, camping and 
caravanning, especially where that supports other ambitions within this 
strategy.

7.9.3 Work with local accommodation providers to encourage provision of quality 
visitor accommodation and where possible sign-up to the Kent Charter.

7.9.4 Assess the impacts that residential development and new hotel 
development in the Ebbsfleet Garden City and proposals for London 
Resort and understand how these will effect scope for investment in 
additional visitor accommodation in Gravesham.

7.9.5 Explore opportunities for business/conference tourism associated with 
Gravesham’s enhanced connectivity.

8. Visitor & Heritage Attractions

8.1 Gravesham has a diverse range of heritage and visitor attractions within the 
following, at times overlapping ‘themes’:

8.1.1 Exceptional countryside and characterful villages, with extensive swathes 
of the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and the 
North Kent Marshes, including internationally important wetland areas; 
Kent’s most visited Country Park at Shorne Woods and others at Trosley 
and Jeskyns.

8.1.2 Sport and activity based visits –Cyclopark (national multi-sports centre), 
walking, horse riding, cycling, long distance footpaths – Saxon Shore Way, 
North Downs Way, weald Way and cycleways/Sustrans; future and new 
leisure facilities in the borough.

Page 94



9 | P a g e

8.1.3 Heritage properties - small cluster of National Trust properties including 
Cobham Mausoleum, Owletts and the Yeoman’s House, Sole Street; .

8.1.4 Strong association with historic characters – Charles Dickens, living his 
last years at Gad’s Hill Place, Higham (1856-1870) and his links with 
Cobham, Higham and countryside; Pocahontas and Gravesend’s part in 
her story; General Charles Gordon and his influential time in Gravesend.

8.1.5 Faith based visits - The largest Sikh Gurdwara complex in Europe 
attracting visitors interested in the faith, the building, Sikh heritage and 
major festivals; historic church buildings, e.g. St George’s, Gravesend, St 
Mary Magdalene, Cobham and it fine collection of medieval brasses; St 
Mary’s Lower Higham now in the hands of the Churches Conservation 
Trust.

8.1.6 Defence related heritage attractions - telling a story of the defence of 
London and the River over many centuries, including New Tavern Fort and 
Milton Chantry Heritage Centre, Gravesend Blockhouse, Woodlands Park 
Cold War Bunker Shornemead Fort.

8.1.7 A new generation of visitor experiences - represented in Gravesend by 
The Panic Room – one of the first escape rooms in Kent and what is 
believed to be the largest cluster of rooms in the UK.  Typically, registers 
as within the top 10 of fun and games attractions in Kent.

8.1.8 An emerging cluster of creative and performance spaces ranging from The 
Woodville to the new St George’s creative space, St Andrew’s and LV21 
Light Vessel, with the potential to inspire the use of other spaces within 
Gravesend Borough Market and Gravesend Library for creative activity.

8.2 The majority of these are accessible on an infrequent basis, often seasonally, 
independently run, reliant on their operation by volunteers and predominantly non-
commercial.  Consequently, whilst they offer diverse interest to the visitor, they 
have a small scale economic impact on their own.

8.3 Greater gains to the visitor economy have taken place in recent years with the 
impact of additional more commercial attractions, such as the Panic Room and 
Cyclopark and those that by their sheer scale attract larger visitor numbers – Guru 
Nanak Durbar Gurdwara.

8.4 Ongoing challenge to collect visitor data from local businesses and organisations.

8.5 Greater co-ordination and promotion between these ‘attractions’ under specific 
themes and through co-ordination of openings for small groups and itineraries 
helps to overcome issues of infrequent opening.  Establishment of the Gravesham 
Accredited Tour Guides and development of guided tours creates additional 
opportunities for group visits to overcome some of the weaknesses in openings.  
More can be done to generate income, train volunteers and to add value to a visit.

8.6 The London Resort proposals comprise the following:

 A Leisure Core, comprising a range of events spaces, themed rides and 
attractions, entertainment venues, theatres and cinemas, developed in 
landscaped settings in two phases.

Page 95



10 | P a g e

 A ‘Conferention’ Centre (i.e. a combined conference and convention 
centre) with a floor area of up to 11,000 m2.

 A linked building hosting a range of eSports, video and computer gaming 
events, with a total floor space of up to 16,500 m2.

 A Back of House area accommodating many of the necessary supporting 
technical and logistical operations to enable the London Resort to function.

 This also includes a new access road from the A2 and arrival of visitors via 
the River.  This Resort has the potential to dramatically change the nature 
of the visitor economy locally, subject to understanding the demand for 
staying ‘beyond the park’ and extending visits locally, if not only with 
friends and family in the area, which is an important aspect of visitors stays 
currently.

8.7 The following priority actions for attraction development have been identified 
during the strategy period:

8.7.1 Continue to encourage the opening of Gad’s Hill Place to visitors and 
steps being taken by the Charles Dickens Heritage Trust to open the 
building as a Heritage Centre.

8.7.2 Work with faith communities to provide hospitality and a welcome at the 
Guru Nanak Darbar Gurdwara, St George’s Church, Gravesend and at 
other church and faith based venues.

8.7.3 Takes steps to enhance the interpretation of Pocahontas’ story through 
working with St George’s Church and the St George’s Phase 2 town centre 
regeneration proposals.

8.7.4 Recognise the growth and attraction of ‘experiential’ visits with themed 
guided visits/tours, a focus on culture, food and drink, river trips, sports 
tourism, etc.

8.7.5 Promote greater access to Gravesham’s riverside for walking and leisure 
use, where it is safe to do so.

8.7.6 Understand the implications of the London Resort proposals on the visitor 
economy and wider Gravesham economy.

8.7.7 Collection of data from local businesses and organisation in order to 
identify and understand our visitor markets better.

9. Gravesham’s Diverse Culture, Festivals & Events

9.1 For a Borough of its size, Gravesham hosts a diverse variety of annual events and 
festivals.  Many of these are community focused events, but a number have the 
potential to attract visitors from further afield, such as St George’s Day Parade 
(April), Vaisakhi parade (April), Riverside Festival (July), the annual Fireworks 
display (November) and Christmas events.  

9.2 Alongside these the council seeks to work with partners, including Visit Kent, to 
ensure a presence in the county wide visitor campaign - Big Kent Day Out 
(March), English Tourism Week (March) and Heritage Open Days (September).

Page 96



11 | P a g e

9.3 The Borough is also well placed to figure in national cultural festivals which are 
designed to inspire creativity in the context of the coast and estuary – Estuary 
2021 and England’s Creative Coast.

9.4 Covid-19 safe responses are influencing the operation of Gravesham’s attractions 
and it is events, festivals and activities, which are taking place outdoors, that will 
likely draw visitors at this point in time.

9.5 Festivals and events have the potential to add considerably to Gravesham’s visitor 
appeal by being designed and promoted to attract a wider visitor audience

9.6 The following priority actions for attraction development have been identified 
during the strategy period:

9.6.1 Review and confirmation of the Borough’s events programming post 
Covid-19 to recognise the role that they may have in attracting more 
visitors to the Borough.

9.6.2 Capitalise on the large scale cultural events planned for the Thames 
Estuary and Creative Coast in the coming years. 

9.6.3 Promote the Borough’s strong cultural attraction through its events and 
supplement with other guided visits, trails and interpretation.

10. Marketing & Promotion

10.1 A website presence and social media dominate the way in which Gravesham, as a 
visitor destination, is marketed and promoted.  Opportunities will exist to promote 
even more effectively Gravesham’s visitor offer as it strengthens and develops.  
Gravesham’s visitor themes of riverside, countryside, activity and defence history 
are strong, but it is the exposure that the larger attractions, such as the Panic 
Room, Cyclopark and Gurdwara have to raise awareness of the area to the visitor.

10.2 Gravesham is a member of Kent’s Destination Management Organisation (DMO), 
Visit Kent, which takes a lead in marketing Kent as a visitor destination with 
associated campaigns and promotional activity.

10.3 In respect of more local promotional activity:

10.3.1 The Visitor Information Point in Gravesend Borough Market is open 6 days 
a week and provides an excellent resource for information and advice and 
provides a welcome for visitors to the area.  It is the hub of Visit 
Gravesend’s social media activity. 

10.3.2 Use is made of a variety of websites to promote local events, attractions 
and accommodation through Visit Gravesend (www.visitgravesend.co.uk), 
Visit Kent, Tourism South East and Visit Britain websites.

10.3.3 Visit Gravesend has really developed its presence on social media and its 
engagement with the audience has proven a very positive promotional 
tool.  

10.3.4 Itineraries, group tours and packages have been developed for the visitor 
and are promoted.

Page 97



12 | P a g e

10.3.5 The council has a wide range of leaflets promoting local attractions and 
heritage, including their yearly Visit Gravesend Tourism Guide.

10.4 The council’s tourism network of local visitor attractions and accommodation aims 
to co-operate in sharing information and promoting the local visitor economy more 
effectively. Engaging other partners in greater collaborative marketing efforts is 
key, e.g. Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), National Trust, 
Shorne Woods Country Park (Kent County Council), Jeskyns Farm (Forestry 
Commission), etc. but resources are limited.

10.5 Opportunities are taken through Gravesham’s Town Twinning relationships to 
raise awareness of the Borough where possible and visits thought its partners in 
Cambrai (France), Neumünster (Germany), Chesterfield (Virginia, USA) and 
Jalandhar (India).

10.6 The following priority actions have been identified:

10.6.1 Confirm Gravesham’s key themes, especially those which attract larger 
visitor numbers such as Experience/Activity; Countryside; Faith/Gurdwara; 
Heritage. These can be honed further through the ‘Gravesham 
Experiential’ study undertaken recently. The findings will help identity and 
shape the council’s activities and offers and capture key messaging for 
promoting the borough.

10.6.2 Expand the Gravesham tourism network, where appropriate, to strengthen 
co-operative working, especially in respect of co-ordination of marketing 
and openings.

10.6.3 Make the most of existing partnerships – Visit Kent partnership; twinning 
links

11. Tourism Sector Skills

11.1 Skills improvement is a key issue throughout the tourism sector and for any 
business that is providing a service to a visitor. There are excellent examples of 
the impact of good training and a range of initiatives and programmes, especially 
around transferable skills in customer care, hospitality and business development.  

11.2 Developing the skills of volunteers and tour guides is a priority, with an aim of 
attracting younger generations to develop skills and experience in this area.

11.3 Key Priorities

11.3.1 Work with partners to promote customer care and hospitality skills.

11.3.2 Volunteer skills and work experience opportunities for younger people.

12. Safeguarding Gravesham’s Heritage

12.1 There are various important archive and artefacts in various hands within the 
Borough – the Council, Gravesend Library (KCC), Gravesend Historical Society, 
Northfleet Historical Society and in private hands.  Work needs to be undertaken 
to understand what is available and where and to fill some gaps in the archiving of 
material and identification of the most significant. 

Page 98



13 | P a g e

12.2 Key to this is understanding how these relate to the telling of Gravesham’s 
story/stories.  The Council is not best placed to host historic artefacts, due to the 
availability of resources and expertise, but can influence and help to co-ordinate 
this area of work, looking to draw upon knowledge, enthusiasm and expertise 
within the community and local history groups.  It can seek advice as to what 
steps to take and how best to interpret these stories in the 21st Century, using 
digital media and other technology available today to engage younger 
generations, new and wider audiences.

12.3 The council is committed to the maintenance, repair and interpretation of those 
heritage properties within its care, subject to a programme of capital works, 
funded where possible with the help of external heritage funding.  These include 
the listed buildings, parks and gardens at New Tavern Fort/Milton Chantry, 
Gravesend Blockhouse, St Andrew’s Church, Gravesend Cold War Bunker and 
Gravesend Cemetery.  The Council will support where possible the contribution 
that can be made by other heritage assets in the Borough to telling of 
Gravesham’s story.

12.4 Gravesham has an online ‘archive’ through its Discover Gravesham – archiving of 
information and artefacts – which can be developed further.

12.5 The following priority actions are as follows:

12.5.1 Building blocks within a plan to make more of Gravesham’s archive and 
artefacts, etc. Secure some resource to undertake that work, leading to 
advice on how best to secure their future and to interpret them.

12.5.2 Reshape Discover Gravesham and progress with the digitalisation of the 
borough’s artefacts.

12.5.3 Progress repairs and interpretation of Gravesham’s heritage assets, 
including a review and updating of our audio tours.

13. Resources

13.1 Gravesham is a partner in two Interreg European projects, both of which have a 
strong focus on the visitor economy:

13.1.1 The ‘Experience’ Interreg Project - the project is looking to increase visitor 
footfall during the off peak seasons and support recovery of the tourism 
sector post-pandemic, offering product development opportunities, 
including 1 to 1 business consultation.

13.1.2 The European Channel Manche Interreg project “Go Trade” - to revitalise 
Gravesend Borough Market and make it a destination.

14. Overall Objectives 

14.1 The following objectives have been identified:

14.1.1 Encourage more day visits and longer stays

14.1.2 Increase the stock, quality and breadth of visitor accommodation

Page 99



14 | P a g e

14.1.3 Strengthen Gravesham’s visitor offer through supporting the opening of 
existing and new visitor attractions and developing ‘experiential’ tourism. 

14.1.4 Enable the programme of festivals and cultural activity to appeal to visitors 
from beyond the Borough

14.1.5 To extend the effectiveness of Gravesham’s visitor information and 
promotion

14.1.6 Strengthen local partnership working between tourism and hospitality 
businesses and organisations

14.1.7 Develop skills and work experience opportunities within the local tourism 
and hospitality sector  

14.1.8 Value and co-ordinate the expertise, archiving and interpretation of 
Gravesham’s heritage towards a telling of Gravesham’s story. 

14.2 A summary of the strategy’s objectives is included as Appendix 3.

14.3 The Tourism and Heritage strategy needs to complement the council’s Arts and 
Cultural Strategy and is consistent with the Council’s Corporate Plan ambitions.

15. Action Plan & Resources

15.1 An action plan incorporating the objectives to be provided.  Progress will be 
monitored through the council’s performance key indicators.

15.2 On the whole this action plan can be achieved through the council’s current levels 
of budgetary provision. This will be reviewed on an annual basis and therefore 
may change. Some of the key areas that will require additional funding, could be 
partially funded, possibly though partnership working.

16. Consultation

16.1 Tourism organisations, local businesses and residents were consulted with on a 
draft strategy December 2020/ January 2021 requesting feedback via the 
council’s website, the tourism Facebook and Twitter pages, and via email 
databases.

16.2 This is an opportunity to promote what Gravesham is doing to attract and 
welcome visitors, but the underlying issue is what actions in the medium term will 
have the greatest economic impact and provide a legacy for further growth in this 
sector. The various studies and surveys which have been undertaken alongside 
the strategy are helping to prioritise actions and overall objectives and will shape 
our action plan for delivery.

Page 100



TOURISM  
AND HERITAGE

STRATEGY
2020-2023

Grow the stock, quality and variety of  
visitor accommodation

Increase day visits and longer stays

Strengthen Gravesham’s visitor offer 
 Extend openings of existing local tourism and heritage      
 sites; new visitor attractions and experiential tourism
  

Extend the effectiveness of  
Gravesham’s visitor information  
and promotion.

Strengthen local partnership working, skills and 
work opportunities within the tourism and  
hospitality sector.

Value and coordinate the expertise, archiving    
and interpretation of Gravesham’s heritage 
and telling its story.

A programme of festivals, arts and  
cultural activities to appeal to visitors  
from further afield.

GRAVESHAM
Expanding the 
visitor economy 
- A place to visit, stay and enjoy
- Promote the destination
- Telling our story

Our Tourism and Heritage Strategy  
is linked to our Corporate objectives 
below:

OBJECTIVE

1
OBJECTIVE

2
OBJECTIVE

3
OBJECTIVE

4
OBJECTIVE

5
OBJECTIVE

6
OBJECTIVE

7

#2

#1
#3

PROTECTED 
ENVIRONMENT

QUALITY 
LIVING

PEOPLE
VIBRANT 

ECONOMY
CONNECTED 
COMMUNIT Y

 PL ACE

ENTREPRENEURIAL 
AUTHORIT Y

STRONG 
LEADERSHIP

PROGRESS

PL AN
CORPORATE

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



INCREASE

INCREASE

INCREASE

IN TRIPS

IN VALUE

IN JOBS

OTHER PURPOSES 4%
INCLUDING OVERSEAS STUDY VISITS

HOLIDAY 13%
THOSE ON HOLIDAY

STAY 3.5 NIGHTS
IN THE AREA AND

SPEND 
£368.72.00

FOR THE DURATION 
OF THE TRIP

BUSINESS 16%
THOSE ON BUSINESS

STAY 3.0 NIGHTS
IN THE AREA AND

SPEND £197
FOR THE DURATION

OF THE TRIP

VFR 67%
THOSE VISITING 
FRIENDS AND RELATIVES

STAY 3.1 NIGHTS
IN THE AREA AND
SPEND £63.65
FOR THE DURATION OF 
THE TRIP

This infographic summarises the volume and value of 
tourism and the impact of visitor expenditure on the 
local economy in 2019. The results are derived using the 
Cambridge Economic Impact Model under licence by 
Destination Research Ltd.

   PURPOSE OF TRIP TO GRAVESHAM 2017 2019

2.2%
9.3%

8.8%
£8m

£10m

ENTERTAINMENT

TRANSPORT

 VISITORS

 NIGHTS  VALUE

 VALUE

 

DAY VISITORS

1.9 MILLION 
£59 MILLION

DIRECT EXPENDITURE

ACCOMMODATION £8m 

RETAIL £30m 

FOOD & DRINK £27m

VISITOR BREAKDOWN

OVERNIGHT VISITORS

VISITORS

 NIGHTS

 VALUE

186,000
0.6 MILLION
£24 MILLION  

DOMESTIC VISITORS

 VISITORS

 NIGHTS

VALUE

147,000 
 0.4 MILLION

£15 MILLION 

OVERSEAS VISITORS

  39,000   VISITORS

0.2 MILLION
£9 MILLION 

GRAVESHAM’S VISITOR ECONOMY 
WE HOPE YOU ENJOY THE NUMBERS!

2.1M VISITORS £124M VALUE 2,793 JOBS

Source: Cambridge Model Research, published December 2020. Some of the statistics have been rounded. For further details please see the full report online at www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk

P
age 103



66.5M VISITORS £4.1BN VALUE  81,458 JOBS

KENT’S PERFORMANCE VALUE AND VOLUMEPURPOSE OF TRIP TO KENT

VISITOR BREAKDOWN

2017 2019

INCREASE IN TRIPS

INCREASE IN VALUE

INCREASE IN JOBS

2.4%

7.3%

  6.0%

 VISITORS VISITORS VISITORS VISITORS

 NIGHTS  NIGHTS NIGHTS VALUE

 VALUE VALUE VALUE

HOLIDAY 35%
THOSE ON HOLIDAY

STAY 3.6 NIGHTS
IN THE AREA AND

SPEND £233.15
FOR THE DURATION OF THE 

TRIP

THOSE VISITING FRIENDS AND RELATIVES

STAY 3.2 NIGHTS
IN THE AREA AND

SPEND £91.66
FOR THE DURATION OF THE TRIP

BUSINESS 16%
THOSE ON BUSINESS

STAY 2.9 NIGHTS
IN THE AREA AND

SPEND £240.87
FOR THE DURATION

OF THE TRIP

VFR  44% 5%

OTHER PURPOSES
INCLUDING OVERSEAS

STUDY VISITS

TOURISM JOBS

DIRECT EXPENDITURE

8,550

£293m

2,838

£372m

24,508

£981m

18,319

£1.2bn

5,626

£320m

6,837

ACCOMMODATION

FOOD & DRINK

TRANSPORT

RETAIL

ENTERTAINMENT

FOOD & DRINK

RETAIL

ENTERTAINMENT

OVERNIGHT VISITORS

4.9 MILLION   
17.2 MILLION

DAY VISITORS

61.7 MILLION
£2.25 BILLION 

£899 MILLION 

DOMESTIC VISITORS

3.7 MILLION 
10.7 MILLION    
£560 MILLION

OVERSEAS VISITORS

1.1 MILLION 
6.5 MILLION 
£340 MILLION

This infographic summarises the volume and value 
of tourism and the impact of visitor expenditure on 
the local economy in 2019. The results are derived 
using the Cambridge Economic Impact Model under 
licence by Destination Research Ltd.

ACCOMMODATION

KENT’S VISITOR ECONOMY
WE HOPE YOU ENJOY THE NUMBERS!

`

TRANSPORT

OTHER

Source: Cambridge Model Research, published December 2020. Some of the statistics have been rounded. For further details please see the full report online at www.visitkentbusiness.co.uk

P
age 104



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Community & Leisure Committee

Date: 2 February 2021

Reporting officer: Simon Hookway - Assistant Director (Communities)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Community & Leisure Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Three 2020-21 (October to December 2020).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 105 Agenda Item 9



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Community & Leisure 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Three 2020-21, covering the period October to 
December 2020. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 106



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 107

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 108



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C O M M U N I T Y  &  L E I S U R E
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  3  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 109



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245 2,670 3,056 2,806

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

636 774 556 685 1,295 1,098 874

Key work completed or led by the Community Safety Unit (CSU) in this quarter has included:

• The Council’s first strategy to tackle Modern Day Slavery was formally launched in October to coincide

with National Anti-Slavery Day and received a considerable amount of publicity.  A multi-agency Modern

Slavery Working Group has also been established and held its first meeting in December.  Considerable

work is taking place between the Council, Kent Police, Porchlight and other local partner agencies in

taking a proactive approach to raising awareness of this issue and encouraging reporting, with cases

now coming to light and victims being able to receive the support they need.

• Following consultation with all statutory partners and after obtaining approval from the Kent Police and

Crime Commissioner, Gravesham Borough Council withdrew from the joint Dartford and Gravesham

Community Safety Partnership (CSP), the last meeting of the joint Partnership having taken place in

October.   Gravesham now has a dedicated CSP for the Borough which will enable a greater focus on

those issues that are most important to local people and our area.  New Terms of Reference and an

organisational structure for the new CSP have been devised and a first meeting is being held in January

2021.

• Gravesham’s CSU has completed the annual Strategic Assessment of crime and disorder on behalf of

the CSP which this year has had to include considerable information on the impact of Covid-19 on

criminal behavior and ASB.  This is the first step towards identifying the priorities for the Partnership that

will be included in a new Gravesham Community Safety Strategy that will be produced in Quarter 4 of 

this financial year.

• A Youth Engagement Panel is being established as an operational sub-group of the CSP to enable

agencies to work together to identify effective preventative interventions for young people at risk of

becoming involved in crime/ASB as well interventions for those already in the youth justice system to

reduce re-offending.  The Panel is set to hold its first meeting in January 2021.

• An Area Based Action Group is also being created to allow agencies to take a unified approach in

reducing crime (including environmental crime and damage) and ASB in geographical hot spots across

the Borough where these issues have been persistent for some time.

• A new Public Space Protection Order has been obtained with a three year duration to restrict the

consumption of alcohol within a designated area within Gravesend town centre to reduce ASB and crime

linked to street drinking.  In the first instance officers will be able to issue a warning but if this is not

heeded and there is a breach of the Order, a £75.00 fine will be issued.  There was considerable support

for the Order from Kent Police and local businesses.

• Relevant members of the CSU Team have received training organised by Housing Services on making

the best use of tools and powers to address ASB and sessions have also been provided by Legal

Services on best practice in preparing case files and presenting evidence.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and reduction

of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.

O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 110



P I  13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

17 16 28 19 0 13 19

O U T T U R N 

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone committing

environmental crime or damaging the local environment.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

0

10

20

30

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

During the Q3 period the teams litter enforcement activities were severely affected by the covid crisis, 
They have however still been active in the town centre and have issued a number of littering fines for 
single item unlawful waste deposits. Please see below figures

Litter Fixed Penalty Fines (£150): October - 11  November - 1  December - 0.

In keeping with the community safety strategy and with the intention to educate,  the officers have 
made increasing use of Community Protection Notices and Warnings to carry out low level enforcement 
and education. Please see below figures:

CPN Warning:        October        0                             November    15                 December  5

CPN:                       October        0                             November     1                  December 0

The Safer Place Officers have had considerable success in initial search and investigation of small 
scale fly-tipping offences and have issued a number of £400 Fixed Penalty Fines. These have only 
been issued for small scale offences where the offender admits responsibility. 

Fly-tipping Fixed Penalties (£400):     October - 0   November - 5     December - 2

At the end of December the Environmental Enforcement Team had 35 complicated or protracted 
investigations. These ranged from fly-tipping of waste at GBC Housing sites to large scale 80+ ton rural 
fly-tipping offences. All are in various stages of investigation and most will lead to prosecution at court.

The team is currently recruiting two replacement Safer Place Officers, to bring us up to full strength, 
and a dedicated Environmental Crime Investigator - both should be in place by March.

We are working closely with Media services to publicise our results and this is receiving a very positive 
response from the public.

P
age 111



P I  37

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620 N/A 41,278 39,391

P I  38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

7,318

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports programmes

to tackle local health inequalities.

Leisure Centres:

The Q3 period of October to December 2020 included periods of time when the leisure centres were 

unable to be opened due to being under lockdown conditions between 5 November to 1 December 

inclusive. The leisure centres were then placed in lockdown again from 20th December and have not re-

opened since. During the open periods, there still remained social distancing and strict cleaning regimes 

in place, which resulted in dramatic reductions in maximum numbers to each activity area, particularly 

the Group Classes and the Swimming Pool at Cygnet. The period of 2nd December to 20th December, 

Gravesham was placed in Tier 4, which caused further restrictions on the leisure centre operation i.e. no

indoor Group Classes allowed so GCLL developed an innovative outdoor Group Class programme 

based at Cascades. The total attendance at Cascades and Cygnet Leisure Centre during the period 1st 

October to 31st December 2020 was 39,391. When compared to the same period of 2019, the total 

attendance was 194,043, therefore an 80% reduction in total attendance.

Active Recreation:

Grassroots football was able to return in September following the relaxing of Covid restrictions. However 

these came in to effect again in November and have resulted in the postponement of grassroots football 

for the foreseeable future.

Whilst the season was taking place, over 400 players were accessing the council’s playing pitches 

across four sites managed by the Leisure Team on a weekly basis, which includes 21 adult football 

teams and 11 junior teams, with the majority of usage taking place on Saturdays and Sundays. There is 

also some additional junior usage at Istead Rise Recreation Ground and Luddesdown Recreation 

Ground, which are managed locally by the community association and parish council respectively.

Other activities that would be included across the year in activity figures – walking football, walking 

netball and parkrun have not been able to restart as a result of the coronavirus pandemic.

Annual indicator Annual indicator

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Total number of leisure centre attendees

O U T T U R N 

20,000

100,000

180,000

260,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

2,500

5,000

7,500

10,000

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 112



P I  40

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

974 595 1,011 515 353 417 414

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help support

and safeguard vulnerable residents.

Gr@nd Q3 update

This quarter has been an ever changing one. October started with a significant number of sessions 

taking place in person whilst adhering to Covid guidelines, then with lockdown between the 5 November 

and 2 December , sessions went back online. At the beginning of December some 1-1 youth sessions 

were being delivered in the building.

Active Listening Service

Due to demand by local young people, we have now hired another mental health counsellor so that we 

can offer counselling services 4 days a week for young people. We are seeking additional funding to 

extend this service even further to keep up with demand and will be launching a crowdfunder page 

during 2021.

Christmas in a Box

Planning for Christmas in a box started in September 2020. We worked in partnership with KCC’s Early 

Years Team for Gravesham, Kuflink Foundation, The Be More Foundation, Morrison’s, Church of the 

Latter Day Saints and many more. With support from the GYG committee we raised £9960 which 

included £2440 raised via our first ever Crowdfunding campaign and support from KCC Cllrs John 

Burden, Diane Marsh, Lauren Sullivan and Alan Ridgers. Each box contained, essentials, food treats 

and toys. In total 112 boxes were delivered to Gravesham families with young carers to try and bring 

some joy for families who have had a really difficult year. This project was also a testament to the team 

who packed and delivered all the boxes whilst adhering to Covid Guidelines which meant that the 

numbers of staff helping had to be limited. So much positivity has been received from families including 

these comments:

‘I’m so overwhelmed and grateful…I will forever be grateful for this! This is so kind and generous and will 

help us so much, its people like you that give families like mine hope’

A short film about the project was produced and can be viewed via this link 

https://www.thegrand.org.uk/what-we-do/christmas-in-a-box

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living 

services

300

600

900

1,200

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 113



P I  41

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

36

The increase in Covid 19 restrictions have impacted on community activity and events over the last 

quarter.  

Following strict guidance 6 organised litter picks have taken place between October and December.  

The Adopt a Street scheme has continued to receive requests from residents from across the borough 

to join the scheme with 15 new volunteers joining the scheme covering 11 more streets.  This brings the 

total number of street champions to 201 covering a total of 174 streets.    

Black History Month celebrations moved online with virtual services and events being delivered by the 

African Community Forum, the Black History Association Gravesham and Kent Equality Cohesion 

Council with the Kent Caribbean Network.  

The Clock Tower has been illuminated over the past quarter to celebrate Breast Cancer Awareness 

Week, SANDS (Baby loss awareness), World Polio Awareness Day, Halloween, Remembrance, Diwali, 

Pancreatic Cancer Awareness Day and St Andrews Day.

A 2 minute silence was held on community square for Armistice Day with the Mayor, Deputy Lord 

Lieutenant and council leaders.

Work to support local community organisations has continued with the council able to provide financial 

support through the Emergency Support Grant for organisations experiencing additional demand for 

services.   A number of frontline community organisations are now distributing financial support to help 

families and individuals in need afford food and fuel through the winter support fund.  

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 

with its partners

O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of engagement 

initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in civic life.

0

20

40

60

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 114



P I  42

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968 0 2,413 3,415

P I  43

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461 980 6,192 4,582

Average weekly Borough Market footfall

O U T T U R N 

4. Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the Borough

Market as community assets.

Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

The Woodville has been closed to the public since the November 2020 lockdown. Prior to that it was 

showing a limited programme of cinema screenings with a limited capacity. Since July The Woodville 

has been able to be open for the Centre Stage performing arts academy to run classes within the 

prevailing restrictions and there has even been some sessions for the in house choir, all of this activity 

ceased with the latest lockdown. With rehearsals allowed even during lockdown it was possible to 

rehearse the pantomime adhering to the guidelines meaning that we would have been able to go into full 

production had the tier system allowed. Sadly that was not the case, however plans had already been 

put in place to do a full streamed version of the show, and to sell that as a download link over the 

pantomime period. With the tier restrictions still in place we have extended that selling period to the end 

of January. Prior to the schools breaking up we worked with the pantomime dame to deliver pantomime 

workshops and Q and A's into secondary schools via zoom. In addition we did a story time session for 

primary schools reaching over 1000 children in a live stream of the dame reading the story of Rapunzel. 

The Borough Market has continued to see fluctuations in footfall, reflecting the changing Covid-19 

restrictions. As and when restrictions have eased, allowing more trading, footfall has increased; albeit on 

much lower rates than pre-Covid. Traders and customers have continued to show interest in returning to 

specialist markets and enquiries for permanent units continued throughout the period – albeit potential 

new traders are choosing to wait until restrictions ease on a more permanent basis before signing up. 

During Q3 the market was able to host a number of ‘come, buy, leave’ Christmas markets which was a 

welcome boost to all traders.

#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 115



P I  44

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

4,936

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and

expand the visitor economy.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N 

Arts:

Virtual Blake – The final instalment of the Virtual Blake series of community exhibitions has recently 

been displayed.  December’s exhibition featured a number of our favourite artworks from June to 

November.

Heritage:

Heritage sites continue to remain closed for the Winter season and depending on restrictions will re-

open in April 2021. Work has continued into researching the improvement of air conditions within New 

Tavern Fort with a microbiological survey taking place and site visit from humidity professionals. 

Milton Chantry celebrates its 700th anniversary during 2021 and research has begun into the 

development of a new room display to reflect its life as a barracks as part of New Tavern Fort. A new 

logo has also been designed and a programme of events will be announced in early 2021.

The Arts and Heritage Officer is looking to submit a funding application to the National Lottery Heritage 

Fund to support a digital development bid to enable to Heritage sites to be more resilient to changing 

external factors in the future.

A draft Tourism and Heritage Strategy has been prepared and consulted upon and will be reported to the 

Cabinet Committee in Q4.  The Experience Interreg project is helping develop experiential product to 

attract visitors to the Borough. 

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 116


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Review of Gravesham Borough Council's Support to local voluntary and community organisations
	Appendix II - Community Organisations

	5 Community Engagement Strategy
	Community Engagement Strategy Revised draft

	6 Draft Equalities Policy, Objectives and Action Plan
	Appendix II GBC Equality Policy and Objectives
	Equality Framework For Local Government 2020
	Understanding and Working with your Communities
	Leadership and Organisational Commitment
	Assessing Equality Impact in Policy and Decision Making
	Service Delivery
	Diverse and Engaged Workforce
	Health and Wellbeing


	7 Modern Slavery Progress Update
	App 2a Gravesend Messenger Oct 2020
	App 2b Gravesend Messenger Oct 2020
	App 3 Your Borough article - Winter 2020
	App 4 Modern Slavery Working Group TOR

	8 Tourism & Heritage Strategy
	Appendix 2 Gravesham Tourism and Heritage Strategy  - CL Cabinet Committ...
	Appendix 3 Tourism and Heritage Strategy Plan on A Page
	Appendix 4 - Gravesham's Visitor Economy 2019 (Cambridge Model)
	Thanet's Visitor Economy
	Thanet's Visitor Economy

	Kent’s Visitor Economy


	9 Q3 Corporate Performance Report - Community & Leisure Portfolio - 2020/2021
	Community & Leisure Portfolio - Q3 2020-21




